## STATE OF MAINE

Commission to Prepare a Revision of the Criminal Laws

JON. A. LUND, Chairman 114 State Street Augusta, Maine 04330 SANFORD J. FOX, Chief Counsel Boston College Law School Brighton, Massachusetts 02135

Caroline Glassman
Errol K. Paine
Peter Avery Anderson
Louis Scolnik
Lewis V. Vafiades
Dr. Bernard Saper
Col, Parker F. Hennessey
Gerald F. Petruccelli
Edith L. Hary
Allan L. Robbins
Dr. Willard D. Callender, Jr.
Jack H. Simmons
Daniel G. Lilley
James S. Erwin, Ex officio

TO:

COMMISSION AND CONSULTANTS

Consultants

FROM: SANFORD J. FOX

Hon. Robert B. Williamson Hon. Sidney W. Wernick Hon. Harold J. Rubin Hon. Thomas E. Delahanty

JULY 24, 1974

1. The next meeting of the Commission is on August 15, 1974. The central item on the agenda of that meeting will be the sentencing system. There should now be in the hands of each member of the Commission Chapters 1A, 2A, 3A and 4A, dated May 28, 1974. These chapters represent an alternative sentencing structure which can profitably be compared with chapters 31, 32, 34, 35 and 36, the Commission's original sentencing system which was developed in the Fall of 1972.

The alternative system represents primarily a cutting back on the amount of discretion lodged in corrections and the courts regarding sentences, that is, the alternative system is characterized by sentences which are largely set by the legislature, with relatively little option in the judge or the parole board to alter sentences. The original sentencing system, on the other hand, featured a great amount of discretion in corrections authorities to determine, in all but a few cases, whether a convicted person is to be imprisoned, for how long, and where. Thus, the task for August 15th is for the Commission to determine what is the appropriate allocation of authority, as between legislature, court, and corrections, to determine just what happens to persons convicted of crime. Many issues are involved. Is it always (ever) proper for the legislature to require that an offender (multiple offender) be imprisoned? is, should the legislature fix the amount of time to be served? If not, who should have the power to determine the amount - the court? corrections? If the court is to have some say in the matter, should

it decide on a fixed period of time? decide only a maximum, with corrections having the final say about how much time is served? set a minimum? any minimum, or one fixed by the legislature?

Questions of this sort are difficult to deal with in the absence of some set of beliefs about the criminal process. My recommendations in this respect begin with an acceptance of the overwhelming evidence to the effect that not only do prisons fail to rehabilitate offenders, but, short of killing him outright, we know virtually nothing about how to stop another person from committing crimes. None of this, of course, serves to impeach the good will and energetic efforts of Maine corrections authorities. But it does suggest that indeterminate sentences made in the expectation that a man can be released when he is ready to go straight, are unsupported in their fundamental assumptions.

While we seem to know fairly little about deterrence as well, it is a factor that cannot be ignored. It is commonly believed that it is the certainty rather than the severity of sentences that is the core of whatever deterrence the criminal process manages to accomplish To the extent that imprisonment or no, and how much imprisonment is problematic and not certain, depending on which judge does the sentencing (as appears to be the case in the studies that have been done) on the composition of the parole board at any given time, on how the public and the media are feeling about robbery or burglary or rape, etc. at a particular time, and a variety of other contingencies, the deterrent effect of the law is diluted.

If we add to these considerations the respectable evidence to the effect that long prison terms make it more difficult for offenders to stay out of trouble upon release, the suggestion appears that the public interest is best served by prison terms that are fairly short and fairly mandatory. That is, indeterminate sentences serve no useful public purpose; short, mandatory, definite sentences may well serve such a purpose.

2. Enclosed is a complete and updated draft of almost all the rest of the Code. The sections defining crimes await a decision about the sentencing system. It includes the following new material which has not yet been reviewed by the Commission: Chapters 29A, 29I, 29J and 29K, and sections 12, 13 and 14 of Chapter 28. The remainder of the Commission's work will be from this draft, and earlier material may be put aside into the history folder. I have also included a Chapter 29L which is the revision of the drug laws which Bob Glass and I worked on. The revisions of Title 22 necessary

to have that title consistent with Chapter 29L are in process and will be distributed soon. Finally, there is enclosed a tabular presentation of the criminal offenses which now exist in the Maine statutes outside of Title 17. As section 6 of our draft chapter 11 indicates, the general provisions of the Code will affect all of these statutes.

3. The West Publishing Company has agreed to print and distribute the report of this Commission as a public service to the bench and bar of the state of Maine. I will get the manuscript to them as soon as I have written the commentary to each section of the Code, a task I will embark on as soon as the text is approved by the Commission.

July 24, 1974

### Chapter 29L Drugs

### Section 1 Definitions

As used in this subtitle, the following words shall, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, have the following meanings:

- 1. "Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC)", any substance, including hashish or marijuana, of which the concentration therein of delta-9 or delta-8 tetrahydrocannabinol exceeds ten per cent.
- 2. "Hypodermic apparatus", hypodermic syringe, hypodermic needle, or any instrument designed or adapted for the administration of any drug by injection.
- 3. "Isomer", the optical isomer, except wherever appropriate, the optical, position or geometric isomer.
- 4. "Manufacture", to produce, prepare, propogate, compound, convert or process, either directly or indirectly by extraction from substances of natural origin, or independently by means of chemical synthesis.
- 5. "Marihuana" means all parts, including the seeds, of any plant of the genus cannabis, whether growing or not and means also the resin extracted from any part of the plant; but does not include the mature stalks of the plant, fiber produced from the stalks, oil or cake made from the seeds of the plant, any preparation, compound, or derivative of the stalks, fiber, oil, or cake, or the sterilized seed of the plant that is incapable of germination.

- 6. "Narcotic drug", any of the following, whether produced directly or indirectly by extraction from substances of vegetable origin, or independently by means of chemical synthesis, or by a combination of extraction and chemical syntheses:
- A. Opium and any opiate, and any salt, compound, derivative or preparation of opium or opiate; or
- B. Any salt, compound, isomer, ester, ether, derivative or preparation thereof which is chemically equivalent or identical to or with any of the substances referred to in clause A, but not including the isoquinoline alkaloids of opium; or
  - C. Opium poppy and poppy straw.
  - 7. "Opiate".

analgesic and

- A. Any substance having an/addiction forming or addiction sustaining property or liability similar to morphine or capable of such analgesic and conversion into a drug having/addiction forming or addiction sustaining property or liability.
- B. This term does not include, unless specifically designated or listed in Schedule W, X, Y, or Z, the dextrorotatory isomer of 3-methoxy-n-methyl-morphinan and its salts, dextromethorphan, but does include its racemic and levorotatory forms.
- 8. "Opium poppy", the plant of the species Papaver somniferum L., except its seeds.
- 9. "Poppy straw", all parts, except the seeds, of the opium poppy, after mowing.

- 10. "Prescription drug", any drug upon which the manufacturer or distributor is obliged to place, in order to comply with federal law and regulations, the following legend: "Caution, Federal law prohibits dispensing without prescription."
- 11. "Scheduled drug", any drug named or described on Schedule W, X, Y or Z of section 2.
- 12. "Schedule W drug", any drug named, listed or described in Schedule W of section 2.
- 13. "Schedule X drug", any drug named, listed, or described in Schedule X of section 2.
- 14. "Schedule Y drug", any drug named, listed, or described in Schedule Y of section 2.
- 15. "Schedule Z drug", any drug named, listed, or described in Schedule Z of section 2.
- 16. "State laboratory", a laboratory of any state agency which is capable of performing any or all of the analyses that may be required to establish that a substance is a Scheduled or a counterfeit drug, including, but not limited to, the laboratory of the State Department of Health and Welfare and any such laboratory that may be established within the Department of Public Safety.

- 17. "Traffick",
  - A. to make, create, manufacture; or
- B. to grow or cultivate, except with respect to marihuana; or
- C. to sell, barter, trade, exchange or otherwise furnish for consideration;
- D. to possess with the intent to do any act mentioned in subsection 17C, except that possession of marihuana with such intent shall be deemed furnishing.
  - 18. "Furnish",
- A. to furnish, give, dispense, a minister, prescribe, deliver, or otherwise transfer to another;
- B. to possess with the intent to do any act mentioned in subsection 18A.

## Section 2. Schedules W, X, Y and Z

For the purposes of defining crimes under this chapter and of determining the penalties therefor, there are hereby established the following Schedules, designated W, X, Y and Z.

### 1. Schedule W

A. Unless listed or described in another Schedule, any amphetamine, or its salts, isomers, or salts of isomers, including but not limited to methamphetamine, or its salts, isomers, or salts of isomers.

- B. Unless listed or described in another Schedule, or unless made a nonprescription drug by federal law, barbituric acid or any derivative of barbituric acid, or any salt of barbituric acid or of a derivative of barbituric acid, including but not limited to amobarbital, butabarbital, pentobarbital, secobarbital, thiopental, and methohexital.
  - C. Methaqualone or its salts.
  - D. Methprylon.
  - E. Flurazepam.
  - F. Glutethimide.
- G. Unless listed or described in another Schedule, any of the following hallucinogenic drugs, or their salts, isomers, and salts of isomers whenever the existence of such salts, isomers, and salts of isomers is possible within the specific chemical designation:
  - (1) 3, 4-methylenedioxy amphetamine
  - (2) 5-methoxy-3, 4-methylenedioxy amphetamine
  - (3) 3, 4, 5-trimethoxy amphetamine
  - (4) 4-methy1-2, 5, -dimethoxyamphetamine
  - (5) Diethyltryptamine
  - (6) Dimethyltryptamine
  - (7) Dipropyltryptamine
  - (8) Lysergic acid diethylamide
  - (9) 2,-3 methylenedioxy amphetamine

- H. Lysergic acid.
- I. Lysergic acid amide.
- J. Cocaine, coca leaves, and any salt, compound, isomer, derivative, or preparation thereof which is chemically equivalent or identical to any of these substances, except decocainized coca leaves or extractions whereof which do not contain cocaine or ecgonine.

#### 2. Schedule X

- A. Unless listed or described in another Schedule, all narcotic drugs, including but not limited to heroin (diacetylmorphine), methadone, pethidine, morphine and opium.
- B. Unless listed or described in another Schedule, any of the following drugs having a depressant effect on the central nervous system:
  - (1) Chlorhexadol
  - (2) Sulfondiethylmethane
  - (3) Sulfonethylmethane
  - (4) Sulfonmethane
  - C. Phenmetrazine and its salts.
  - D. Nalorphine.
  - E. Methylphenidate.
  - F. Chlordiazepoxide or its salts.
  - G. Diazepam
  - H. Carbromal
  - I. Chloral hydrate

- J. Unless listed in another schedule, any of the following hallucinogenic drugs, or their salts, isomers, and salts of
  isomers whenever the existence of such salts, isomers, and salts
  of isomers is possible within the specific chemical designation:
  - (1) Bufotenine
  - (2) Ibogaine
  - (3) Mescaline, including but not limited to peyote
  - (4) N-methy1-3-piperidy1 benzilate
  - (5) N-ethy1-3-piperidy1 benzilate
  - (6) Psilocybin
  - (7) Psilocyn
  - (8) Tetrahydrocannabinols
  - (9) Phencyclidine
- J. Unless listed in another schedule, any material, compound, mixture, or preparation containing limited quantities of any of the following narcotic drugs or any salts thereof:
- (1) Not more than 300 milligrams of dehydrocodeinone per 100 milliliters or not more than 15 milligrams per dosage unit, with a fourfold or greater quantity of an isoquinoline alkaloid of opium.
- (2) Not more than 300 milligrams of dehydrocodeinone per 100 milliliters or not more than 15 milligrams per dosage unit, with one or more active nonnarcotic ingredients in recognized therapeutic amounts.

- (3) Not more than 1.8 grams of dehydrocodeine per 100 milliliters or not more than 90 milligrams per dosage unit, with one or more active nonnarcotic ingredients in recognized therapeutic amounts.
- (4) Not more than 300 milligrams of ethylmorphine per 100 milliliters or not more than 15 milligrams per dosage unit with one or more active nonnarcotic ingredients in recognized therapeutic amounts.
- (5) Not more than 500 milligrams of opium per 100 milliliters or per 100 grams, or not more than 25 milligrams per dosage unit, with one or more active, nonnarcotic ingredients in recognized therapeutic amounts.

### Schedule Y

- A. Barbital
- B. Chloral betaine
- C. Ethchlorvynol
- D. Ethinamate
- E. Methohexital
- F. Methylphenobarbital
- G. Paraldehyde
- H. Petrichloral
- I. Phenobarbital
- J. Codeine (methylmorphine)

- K. Any compound, mixture, or preparation containing any of the following limited quantities of narcotic drugs, which shall include one or more nonnarcotic active medicinal ingredient in sufficient proportion to confer upon the compound, mixture or preparation valuable medicinal qualities other than those possessed by the narcotic drug alone:
- (1) Not more than 2.5 milligrams of diphenoxylate with not less than 25 micrograms of atropin sulfate per dosage unit.
  - L. Meprobamate
  - M. Ergot

### 4. Schedule Z

- A. All prescription drugs other than those included in Schedules W, X, or Y.
  - B. Marijuana
- C. All non-prescription drugs other than those included in Schedules W, X, or Y as the Board of Pharmacy shall duly designate.
- 5. Notwithstanding anything in this section, no drug or substance which is legally sold in the State of Maine without any federal or state requirement as to prescription and which is unaltered as to its form shall be included in Schedule W, X, Y, or Z.

### Section 3. Unlawful Trafficking in Scheduled Drugs

- 1. A person is guilty of unlawful trafficking in a scheduled drug is he intentionally or knowingly trafficks in what he knows or believes to be any scheduled drug, and which is, in fact, a scheduled drug, unless the conduct which constitutes such trafficking is either
  - A. expressly authorized by Title 22, or
  - B. expressly made a civil violation by Title 22.
  - [2. Violation of this section is
    - A. a class B crime if the drug is a Schedule W drug;
    - B. a class C crime if the drug is a Schedule X drug; or
- C. a class D crime if the drug is a Schedule Y or Schedule Z drug.

## Section 4. Trafficking in or Furnishing Counterfeit Drugs

- 1. A person is guilty of trafficking in or furnishing counterfeit drugs if he intentionally or knowingly trafficks in or furnishes a substance which he represents to be a scheduled drug but which, in fact, is not a scheduled drug, but is capable, in fact, of causing death or serious bodily injury when taken or administered in the customary or intended manner.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

### Section 5. Aggravated Trafficking or Furnishing Scheduled Drugs

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated trafficking or furnishing scheduled drugs if he trafficks with or furnishes to a child under 16 a scheduled drug in violation of section 3 or 4.
- [2. Aggravated trafficking or furnishing is a crime one class more serious than such trafficking or furnishing would otherwise be.]

### Section 6. Unlawfully Furnishing Scheduled Drugs

- 1. A person is guilty of unlawfully furnishing scheduled drugs if he intentionally or knowingly furnishes what he knows or believes to be a scheduled drug, and which is, in fact, a scheduled drug, unless the conduct which constitutes such furnishing is either
  - A. expressly authorized by Title 22, or
  - B. expressly made a civil violation by Title 22.
  - [2. Violation of this section is
    - A. a class C crime if the drug is a Schedule W drug;
    - B. a class D crime if the drug is a Schedule X, Y, or Z drug.]

### Section 7. Unlawful Possession of Schedule W, X and Y Drugs

- 1. A person is guilty of unlawful possession of a scheduled drug if he intentionally or knowingly possesses a useable amount of what he knows or believes to be a scheduled drug, and which is, in fact, a scheduled drug, unless the conduct which constitutes such possession is either
  - A. expressly authorized by Title 22, or
  - B. expressly made a civil violation by Title 22.
  - [2. Violation of this section is
    - A. a class C crime if the drug is a Schedule W drug;
    - B. a class D crime if the drug is a Schedule X or Y drug.]

## Section 8. Acquiring Drugs by Deception

- 1. A person is guilty of acquiring drugs by deception if he violates section 4 of chapter 25, knowing or believing that the subject of the theft is a scheduled drug, and it is, in fact, a scheduled drug.
- 2. For purposes of this section, information communicated to a physician in an effort to violate this section, including a violation by procuring the administration of a scheduled drug by deception, shall not be deemed a privileged communication.
  - [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

### Section 9. Stealing Drugs

- 1. A person is guilty of stealing drugs if he violates sections 3, 5 or 6 of chapter 25, knowing or believing that the subject of the theft is a scheduled drug, and it is, in fact, a scheduled drug, and the theft is from a person authorized to possess or traffick in such drug shall be guilty of a class B crime.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

### Section 10. Trafficking in Hypodermic Apparatuses

- 1. A person is guilty of trafficking in hypodermic apparatuses if he intentionally or knowingly trafficks in a hypodermic apparatus, unless the conduct which constitutes such trafficking is either
  - A. expressly authorized by Title 22; or
  - B. expressly made a civil violation by Title 22.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

## Section 11. Possession of Hypodermic Apparatuses

- 1. A person is guilty of possession of hypodermic apparatuses if he intentionally or knowingly furnishes or possesses a hypodermic apparatus, unless the conduct which constitutes such possession is either
  - A. expressly authorized by Title 22; or
  - B. expressly made a civil violation by Title 22.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

### Section 12. Analysis of Scheduled Drugs

- 1. A State laboratory which receives a drug or substance from a law enforcement officer or agency for analysis under this chapter shall, if it is capable of so doing, analyze the same as requested, and shall issue a certificate stating the results of such analysis. Such certificate, when duly signed and sworn to by a qualified chemist, or by a laboratory technician whose testimony as an expert has been received in any court of the State of Maine, of the United States, or of any State, shall be admissible in evidence in any court of the State of Maine, and shall be prima facie evidence that the composition and quality of the drug or substance is as stated therein, unless with 10 days written notice to the prosecution, the defendant requests that a qualified witness testify as to such composition and quality.
- 2. Transfers of drugs and substances to and from a State laboratory for purposes of analysis under this chapter may be by certified or registered mail, and when so made shall be deemed to comply with all the requirements regarding the continuity of custody of physical evidence.
- 3. Nothing contained in this section shall be deemed to prevent analyses of drugs from being performed by laboratories of the United States, of another State, or of private persons or corporations.

### Section 13. Arrest without Warrant by Police Officer for Drug Crimes

- 1. A law enforcement officer shall have the authority to arrest without a warrant any person who he has probable cause to believe has committed or is committing any crime under this chapter.
- 2. The powers of arrest conferred upon law enforcement officers by this section are not exclusive, but are in addition to all other powers provided by law.

### Section 14. Schedule Z Drugs: Contraband Subject to Seizure

All Schedule Z drugs, the unauthorized possession of which constitutes a civil violation under Title 22, are hereby declared contraband, and may be seized and confiscated by the State.

## STATE OF MAINE

#### Commission to Prepare a Revision of the Criminal Laws

JON. A. LUND, Chairman 114 State Street Augusta, Maine 04330 SANFORD J. FOX, Chief Counsel Boston College Law School Brighton, Massachusetts 02135

Caroline Glassman
Errol K. Paine
Peter Avery Anderson
Louis Scolnik
Lewis V. Vafiades
Dr. Bernard Saper
Col. Parker F. Hennessey
Gerald F. Petruccelli
Edith L. Hary
Allan L. Robbins
Dr. Willard D. Callender, Jr.
Jack H. Simmons
Daniel G. Lilley
James S. Erwin, Ex officio

Consultants
Hon, Robert B. Williamson
Hon, Sidney W. Wernick
Hon, Harold J. Rubin
Hon, Thomas E. Delahanty

DRAFT CRIMINAL CODE

JULY 1974

- 1079 - 12l<sub>4</sub>3 -

(minus sentencing material)

•		
	·	

### CONTENTS

### TITLE D1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

Chapter	11	Preliminary	,

Section	1.	Title: Effective Date: Severability	11-1
Section	2.	Definitions	11-2
Section	3.	All Crimes Defined by Statute: Civil Actions	11-4
Section	4.	Classification of Crimes: Civil Violations	11-5
Section	5.	Pleading and Proof	11-6
Section	6.	Application to Crimes Outside the Code	11-7
Section	7.	Territorial Applicability	11-7
Section	8.	Statute of Limitations	11-9
Section	9.	Plea Negotiations	11-11
Section	10.	Definitions of Culpable States of Mind	11-12
Section	11.	Requirement of Culpable Mental States	11-14
Section	12.	De Minimis Infractions	11-15
Section	13.	Presumptions	11-16

## Chapter 12 Criminal Liability

Section	1.	Basis for Liability	12-1
Section	2.	Ignorance and Mistake	12-1
Section	3.	Immaturity	12-3
Section	4.	Duress	12-3
Section	5.	Consent	12-4
Section	6.	Causation	12-5
Section	7.	Intoxication	12-6
Section	8.	Criminal Liability for Conduct of Another;	
		Accomplices	12-6
Section	9.	Mental Ability to Stand Trial	12-8
Section	10.	Mental Abnormality	12-13
Section	11.	Procedure Upon Plea of Not Guilty Coupled	
		with Plea of Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity	12-14
Section	12.	Criminal Liability of an Organization	12-16
Section	13.	Individual Liability for Conduct on Behalf	
		of Organization	12-16
Section	14.	Military Orders	12-17

## Chapter 13 Justification

Section 1.	General Rules	13-1
Section 2.	Public Duty	13-1
Section 3.	Competing Harms	13-2
Section 4.	Use of Force in Defense of Premises	13-3
Section 5.	Use of Force in Property Offenses	13-4
Section 6.	Physical Force by Persons with Special	
	Responsibilities	13-4
Section 7.	Physical Force in Law Enforcement	13-7
	Physical Force in Defense of a Person	13-10

## TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 21 Offenses of General Applicability

Section 1.	Conspiracy	21-1
Section 2.	Attempt	21-3
Section 3.	Solicitation	21-4
Section 4.	General Provisions Regarding Chapter 21	21-5

## Chapter 22 Offenses Against the Person

Section	1.	Aggravated Murder CRIMINAL HOM	157	22-1
Section	2.	Murder	24	22-2
Section	3.	Promoting Criminal Homicide	3d	22-2
Section	4.3	Manslaughter	4 13	22-3
		Criminally Negligent Homicide	Sth	22-4
Section	6.7	Causing or Aiding Suicide	6th	22-4
Section	7.	Assault		22-5
Section	8.	Aggravated Assault		22-5
Section	9.	Criminal Threatening		22-5
Section	10.	Endangering Human Life		22-6
Section	11.	Terrorizing		22-7
Section	12.	Reckless Endangerment		22-7

# Chapter 23 Sex Offenses

Section	2. 3. 4.	Definitions and General Provisions Rape Gross Sexual Misconduct Sexual Abuse of Minors Unlawful Sexual Contact	23-1 23-2 23-3 23-5 23-5
Chapter 24	' <sub>+</sub> K	idnapping and Criminal Restraint	
Section	1.	Kidnapping	24-1
		Criminal Restraint	24-2
Chapter 25	5 <u>T</u> l	<u>neft</u>	
Section	1.	Consolidation	25-1
		Definitions	25-1
		Theft by Unauthorized Taking or Transfer	25-5
		Theft by Deception	25-5
		Theft by Extortion	25-6
Section		Theft of Lost, Mislaid, or Mistakenly	
Deceron	•	Delivered Property	25-7
Section	7.	Theft of Services	25-8
		Theft by Misapplication of Property	25-9
Section		Receiving Stolen Property	25-10
		Unauthorized Use of Property	25-11
		Claim of Right; Presumptions	25-12
		Classification of Theft Offenses	25-13
Chanton 26	5 D.	andlers and Criminal Treances	
onapter 20	י סנ	irglary and Criminal Trespass	
Section	1.	Burglary	26-1
Section		Criminal Trespass	26-2
Section		Possession of Burglar's Tools	26-3
Section			26-3

## Chapter 27 Falsification in Official Matters

Section 1.	Perjury	27-1
Section 2.	False Swearing	27-2
Section 3.	Unsworn Falsification	27-4
Section 4.	Tampering with Witness or Informant	27-5
Section 5.	Falsifying Physical Evidence	27-6
Section 6.	Tampering with Public Records or Information	27-7
Section 7.	Impersonating a Public Servant	27-8

## Chapter 28 Offenses Against Public Order

Section	1.	Disorderly Conduct	28-1
Section	2.	Failure to Disperse	28-2
Section	3.	Riot	28-3
Section	4.	Unlawful Assembly	28-3
Section	5.	Obstructing Public Ways	28-4
Section	6.	Harassment	28-4
Section	7.	Desecration and Defacement	28-5
Section	8.	Abuse of Corpse	28-6
Section	9.	False Public Alarm or Report	28-6
Section	10.	Cruelty to Animals	28-7
Section	11.	Violation of Privacy	28-8
Section	13.	Failure to Report Treatment of a Gunshot Maintaining an Unprotected Well Abandoning an Airtight Container	Wound

## Chapter 29 Offenses Against the Family

Section 1.	Bigamy	29-1
Section 2.	Nonsupport of Dependents	29-1
Section 3.	Abandonment of Child	29-1
Section 4.	Endangering the Welfare of a Child	29-2

## Chapter 29A Bribery and Corrupt Practices

Section 1.	Scope of Chapter	29A-1
Section 2.	Bribery in Official and Political Matters	29A-1
Section 3.	Improper Influence	29A-2
Section 4.	Improper Compensation for Past Action	29A-3
Section 5.	Improper Gifts to Public Servants	29A-4
Section 6.	Improper Compensation for Services	29A-4
Section 7.	Purchase of Public Office	29A-5
Section 8.	Official Oppression	29A-5
Section 9.	Misuse of Information	29A-6

## Chapter 29B Robbery

Section 1.	Aggravated Robbery	29B-1
Section 2.	Robbery	29B-1

# Chapter 29C Forgery and Related Offenses

Section 1.	Definitions	29C-1
	Aggravated Forgery	29C-3
Section 3.		29C-4
Section 4.	Possession of Forgery Devices	29C-4
	Criminal Simulation	29C-5
Section 6.	Suppressing Recordable Instrument	29C-6
	Falsifying Private Records	29C-6
	Negotiating a Worthless Instrument	29C-7

## Chapter 29D Offenses Against Public Administration

Section 1.	Obstructing Government Administration	29D-1
Section 2.	Assault on an Officer	29D-1
Section 3.	Hindering Apprehension or Prosecution	29D-2
Section 4.	Compounding	29D-3
Section 5.	Escape	29D-4
Section 6.	Aiding Escape	29D-5
Section 7.	Trafficking in Prison Contraband	29D-6

## Chapter 29E Arson and Other Property Destruction

Section 1.	. Aggravated Arson		29E-1
Section 2.	Arson		29E-2
Section 3.	. Causing a Catastrophe		29E-3
Section 4.	Failure to Control or Report a Dangerous	Fire	29E-3
Section 5.	. Aggravated Criminal Mischief		29E-4
Section 6.	. Criminal Mischief		29E-5

## Chapter 29F Prostitution and Public Indecency

Section 1	l.	Definitions	29F-1
Section 2	2.	Aggravated Promotion of Prostitution	29F-2
Section 3	3.	Promotion of Prostitution	29F-3
Section 4	<b>,</b>	Public Indecency	29F-3

## Chapter 29G Fraud

Section 1.	Deceptive Business Practices	29G-1
Section 2.	Defrauding a Creditor	29G-4
Section 3.	Misuse of Entrusted Property	29G-5
Section 4.	Private Bribery	29G-6
Section 5.	Misuse of Credit Identification	29G-7
Section 6.	Use of Slugs	29G-8

Chapter 29H Unlawful Gambling	Chapter	29H	Unlawful	Gambling
-------------------------------	---------	-----	----------	----------

	- 1: 1:1:+- of Chapter	29H-1
Section 1.	Inapplicability of Chapter	29H-1
Section 2.	Definitions	29H-5
Section 3.	Aggravated Unlawful Gambling	29H-6
Section 4.	Inlawful Gambling	29H-6
Section 5.	Possession of Gambling Records	29H=6
Section 6.	Possession of Gambling Devices	29H=0
Section 7	Out of State Gambling	29h=/

## Chapter 29I Criminal Use of Explosives and Related Crimes

Section 1.	Criminal Use	of Explosives	291-1
Section 2.	Criminal Use	of Disabling Chemicals	291-2
Section 3.	Criminal Use	of Noxious Substance	291-2

## Chapter 29J Weapons

Section 1.	Possession of Machine Gun	29J <b>-</b> 1
Section 2.	Right to Possess, Carry or Transport Machine	•
	Gun	
Section 3.	Confiscation and Seizure of Machine Gun	
Section 4.	Forfeiture of Machine Gun	
Section 5.	Trafficking in Dangerous Knives	

# Chapter 29K Obscenity

Section 1.	Making or Circulating Obscene Books and	
	Pictures	29K-1
Section 2.	Unlawful Notices for Cure of Venereal	
	Diseases	
Section 3.	Circulation Among Minors of Criminal News	
	and Obscene Pictures	
Section 4.	Use of Phonographs for Profane or Obscene	
	Language	
Section 5.	Presenting Obscene or Impure Shows	

#### TITLE D1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

### Chapter 11 Preliminary

### Section 1. Title: Effective Date: Severability

- 1. Title 17 of the Revised Statutes Annotated shall be known, and may be cited as the Maine Criminal Code.
- 2. This Code shall become effective January 1, 1976, and it shall apply only to crimes committed subsequent to its effective date. Prosecution for crimes committed prior to the effective date shall be governed by the prior law which is continued in effect for that purpose as if this Code were not in force; provided, however, that in any such prosecution the court may, with the consent of the defendant, impose sentence under the provisions of the Code. For purposes of this section, a crime was committed subsequent to the effective date if all of the elements of the crime occurred on or after that date; a crime was not committed subsequent to the effective date if any element thereof occurred prior to that date.
- 3. If any provision or clause of this Code or application thereof to any person or circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the Code which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of this Code are declared to be severable.

### Section 2 Definitions

As used in this code, unless a different meaning is plainly required, the following words and variants thereof have the following meanings:

- 1. "Act" or "action" means a voluntary bodily movement.
- 2. "Acted" includes, where appropriate, possessed or omitted to act.
- 3. "Actor" includes, where appropriate, a person who possesses something or who omits to act.
- 4. "Benefit" means any gain or advantage to the actor, and includes any gain or advantage to a person other than the actor which is desired or consented to by the actor.
- 5. "Bodily injury" means physical pain, physical illness or any impairment of physical condition.
- 6. "Criminal negligence" has the meaning set forth in section 10 of chapter 11.
  - 7. "Culpable" has the meaning set forth in section 10 of chapter 11.
- 8. "Deadly force" means physical force which a person uses with the intent of causing, or which he knows to create a substantial risk of causing, death or serious bodily injury. Intentionally or recklessly discharging a firearm in the direction of another person or at a moving vehicle constitutes deadly force.

- 9. "Deadly weapon" or "dangerous weapon" means any firearm or other weapon, device, instrument, material or substance, whether animate or inanimate, which in the manner it is used or is intended to be used, is capable of producing death or serious bodily injury.
- 10. "Dwelling" means any building, motor home, trailer, camperbody or other structure, though movable or temporary, which is for the time being any person's home or place of lodging.
- 11. "Element of the crime" has the meaning set forth in section 5 of chapter 11.
  - 12. "He" means, where appropriate, "she."
- 13. "Intentionally" has the meaning set forth in section 10 of chapter 11.
- 14. "Knowingly" has the meaning set forth in section 10 of chapter 11.
- 15. "Law enforcement officer" means any person who by virtue of his public employment is vested by law with a duty to maintain public order, to prosecute offenders, or to make arrests for crimes, whether that duty extends to all crimes or is limited to specific crimes.
- 16. "Non-deadly force" means any physical force which is not deadly force.
- 17. "Organization" means a corporation, partnership or unincorporated association.

July 15, 1974

11-4

- 18. "Person" means a human being or an organization.
- 19. "Public servant" means any official officer or employee of any branch of government and any person participating as juror, advisor, consultant or otherwise, in performing a governmental function.
- 20. "Recklessly" has the meaning set forth in section 10 of chapter 11.
- 21. "Serious bodily injury" means a bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or loss or extended impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ.

### Section 3. All Crimes Defined by Statute: Civil Actions

- 1. No conduct constitutes a crime unless it is prohibited
  - A. by this Code; or
- B. by any statute or private act outside this Code, including any rule or regulation authorized by and lawfully adopted under a statute, provided that it is expressly classified according to section of chapter 31, or the penalty applicable thereto, for a first or subsequent violation, includes a term of incarceration.
- 2. This Code does not bar, suspend, or otherwise affect any right or liability for damages, penalty, forfeiture or other remedy authorized by law to be recovered or enforced in a civil action, regardless of whether the conduct involved in such civil action constitutes an offense defined in this Code.



### [Section 4. Classification of Crimes: Civil Violations

- Crimes are classified for sentencing purposes as Class A, B,
   or D crimes
  - A. by this Code; or
- B. by a statute or private act outside of the Code, including any rule or regulation authorized by and lawfully adopted under a statute. Any such law outside the Code which does not expressly include a classification shall be classified as follows. If the period of incarceration authorized is
  - (i) one year or less, it shall be a class D crime;
  - (ii) more than one year, but not more than five years, it shall be a class C crime;
  - (iii) more than five years, but not more than ten years, it shall be a class B crime;
    - (iv) more than ten years, it shall be a class A crime.
- 2. A civil violation is conduct which is prohibited by any statute, private act, or ordinance outside this Code, including any rule or regulation authorized by and lawfully adopted under such a statute, act or ordinance which provides as a penalty for engaging in such conduct a fine, forfeiture, penalty or other sanction that does not include a term of imprisonment; such conduct is hereby expressly declared to be not criminal conduct. Civil violations are enforceable by the Attorney General, his representative or any other appropriate public official, in a civil action to recover the amount of the penalty or to secure the forfeiture.]

### Section 5. Pleading and Proof

- 1. No person may be convicted of a crime unless each element of the crime is proved beyond a reasonable doubt. "Element of the crime" means: (a) the forbidden conduct; (b) the attendant circumstances specified in the definition of the crime; (c) the intention, knowledge, recklessness or negligence as may be required; and (d) any required result. The existence of jurisdiction must also be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Venue may be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. The court shall decide both jurisdiction and venue.
- 2. The State is not required to negate any facts expressly designated as a "defense", or any exception, exclusion, or authorization which is set out in the statute defining the crime, either
  - A. by allegation in the indictment or information; or
- B. by proof at trial, unless the existence of the defense, exception, exclusion or authorization is in issue as a result of evidence admitted at the trial which is sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt on the issue, in which case the State must disprove its existence beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 3. Where the statute explicitly designates a matter as an "affirmative defense", the matter so designated must be proved by the defendant by a preponderance of the evidence.

### Section 6. Application to Crimes Outside the Code

The provisions of Chapters \_\_\_ are applicable to crimes defined outside this Code, unless the context of the statute defining the crime clearly requires otherwise.

### Section 7. Territorial Applicability

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, a person may be convicted under the laws of this state for any crime committed by his own conduct or by the conduct of another for which he is legally accountable only if:
- A. either the conduct which is an element of the crime or the result which is such an element occurs within this state; or
- B. conduct occurring outside this state constitutes an attempt to commit a crime under the laws of this state and the intent is that the crime take place within this state; or
- C. conduct occurring outside this state would constitute a criminal conspiracy under the laws of this state, an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy occurs within this state, and the object of the conspiracy is that a crime take place within this state; or
- D. conduct occurring within this state would constitute complicity in the commission of, or an attempt, solicitation or conspiracy to commit an offense in another jurisdiction which is also a crime under the law of this state; or

- E. the crime consists of the omission to perform a duty imposed on a person by the law of this state, regardless of where that person is when the omission occurs; or
- F. the crime is based on a statute of this state which expressly prohibits conduct outside the state, when the actor knows or should know that his conduct affects an interest of the state protected by that statute; or
  - G. jurisdiction is otherwise provided by law.
  - 2. Subsection 1A does not apply if:
- A. causing a particular result or danger of causing that result is an element and the result occurs or is designed or likely to occur only in another jurisdiction where the conduct charged would not constitute an offense; or
- B. causing a particular result is an element of the crime and the result is caused by conduct occurring outside the state which would not constitute an offense if the result had occurred there.
- 3. When the crime is homicide, a person may be convicted under the laws of this state if either the death of the victim or the bodily impact causing death occurred within the state. If the body of a homicide victim is found within this state, it is presumed that such death or impact occurred within the state. When the crime is theft, a person may be convicted under the laws of this state if he obtained property of another, as defined in section 2 of chapter 25, outside of this state and brought the property into the state.

#### Section 8. Statute of Limitations

- 1. It is a defense that prosecution was commenced after the expiration of the applicable period of limitations provided in this section; provided, however, that a prosecution for aggravated murder or murder may be commenced at any time.
- 2. Prosecutions for crimes other than aggravated murder or murder are subject to the following periods of limitations:
- [A. a prosecution for a class A or class B crime must be commenced within six years after it is committed;
- B. a prosecution for a class C or class D crime must be commenced within two years after it is committed.]
  - 3. The periods of limitations shall not run:
- A. during any time when the accused is absent from the state, but in no event shall this provision extend the period of limitation otherwise applicable by more than five years; or
- B. during any time when a prosecution against the accused for the same crime based on the same conduct is pending in this state.
- 4. If a timely complaint or indictment is dismissed for any error, defect, insufficiency or irregularity, a new prosecution for the same crime based on the same conduct may be commenced within six months after the dismissal, or during the next session of the grand jury, whichever occurs later, even though the period of limitations has expired at the time of such dismissal or will expire within such period of time.

- 5. If the period of limitation has expired, a prosecution may nevertheless be commenced for:
- A. any crime based upon breach of fiduciary obligation, within one year after discovery of the crime by an aggrieved party or by a person who has a legal duty to represent an aggrieved party, and who is himself not a party to the crime, whichever occurs first; or
- B. any crime based upon official misconduct by a public servant, at any time when such person is in public office or employment or within two years thereafter.
- C. This subsection shall in no event extend the limitation period otherwise applicable by more than five years.
  - 6. For purposes of this section:
- A. a crime is committed when every element thereof has occurred, or if the crime consists of a continuing course of conduct, at the time when the course of conduct or the defendant's complicity therein is terminated; and
- B. a prosecution is commenced when a complaint is made or an indictment is returned, whichever first occurs.
- 7. The defense established by this section shall not bar a conviction of a crime included in the crime charged, notwithstanding that the period of limitation has expired for the included crime, if as to the crime charged the period of limitation has not expired or there is no such period, and there is evidence which would sustain a conviction for the crime charged.

#### Section 9. Plea Negotiations

- 1. A person charged with a crime may plead guilty or nolo contendere to that crime, or to any lesser included crime, and the plea may specify the sentence to the same extent as it may be fixed by the court upon conviction after a plea of not guilty. Any such plea must have been accepted by the State and must be approved by the court in open court before it shall become effective. If so accepted and approved, the defendant cannot be sentenced to a punishment more severe than that specified in the plea. If such plea is not accepted by the State and approved by the court, the plea shall be deemed withdrawn and the defendant may then enter such plea or pleas as would otherwise have been available. If such plea is deemed withdrawn, it may not be received in evidence in any criminal or civil action, or proceeding of any nature.
- 2. In determining whether to accept such a plea, the state may consider charging a different crime from the one originally charged, and may do so in the interests of justice. If it accepts a plea to such a different crime, the change shall be brought to the attention of the court when it considers approving the plea submitted to it.
- 3. No plea, or other part of the negotiations leading to the submission of a plea to the court, shall be a matter of public record unless and until such plea is approved by the court.
- 4. Proceedings under this section shall comply with the requirements of Rule 11, Maine Rules of Criminal Procedure.

#### Section 10. Definitions of Culpable States of Mind

#### "Intentionally".

- A. A person acts intentionally with respect to a result of his conduct when it is his conscious object to cause such a result.
- B. A person acts intentionally with respect to attendant circumstances when he is aware of the existence of such circumstances or believes that they exist.

#### 2. "Knowingly".

- A. A person acts knowingly with respect to a result of his conduct when he is aware that it is practically certain that his conduct will cause such a result.
- B. A person acts knowingly with respect to attendant circumstances when he is aware that such circumstances exist.

#### 3. "Recklessly".

- A. A person acts recklessly with respect to a result of his conduct when he consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that his conduct will cause such a result.
- B. A person acts recklessly with respect to attendant circumstances when he consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that such circumstances exist.

- C. A risk is substantial and unjustifiable within the meaning of this section if, considering the nature and purpose of the person's conduct and the circumstances known to him, the disregard of the risk involves a gross deviation from the standard of conduct that a law-abiding person would observe in the same situation.
  - 4. "Criminal Negligence".
- A. A person acts with criminal negligence with respect to a result of his conduct when he fails to be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that his conduct will cause such a result.
- B. A person acts with criminal negligence with respect to attendant circumstances when he fails to be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that such circumstances exist.
- C. A risk is substantial and unjustifiable within the meaning of this subsection if the person's failure to perceive it, considering the nature and purpose of his conduct and the circumstances known to him, involves a gross deviation from the standard of care that a law-abiding person would observe in the same situation.
  - 5. "Culpable".

A person acts culpably when he acts with the intention, knowledge, recklessness or criminal negligence as is required.

## Section 11. Requirement of Culpable Mental States

- 1. Unless otherwise expressly provided by a statute, a person is not guilty of a crime unless he acted intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence, as the law defining the crime specifies, with respect to each element of the crime. When the state of mind required to establish an element of a crime is either not specified by such law, or is specified as "willfully", "corruptly", "maliciously", or by some other term importing a state of mind, that element is satisfied if, with respect thereto, the person acted intentionally or knowingly.
- 2. When the definition of a crime specifies the state of mind sufficient for the commission of that crime, but without distinguishing among the elements thereof, the specified state of mind shall apply to all elements of the crime, unless a contrary purpose plainly appears.
- 3. When the law provides that criminal negligence is sufficient to establish an element of a crime, that element also is established if, with respect thereto, a person acted intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly. When the law provides that recklessness is sufficient to establish an element of a crime, that element also is established if, with respect thereto, a person acted intentionally or knowingly. When the law provides that acting knowingly is sufficient to establish an element of a crime, that element also is established if, with respect thereto, a person acted intentionally.

4. A culpable mental state is not required with respect to any element as to which it is expressly stated that it must "in fact" exist.

#### Section 12. De Minimis Infractions

- 1. The court may dismiss a prosecution if, upon notice to the prosecutor and opportunity to be heard, having regard to the nature of the conduct alleged and the nature of the attendant circumstances, it finds the defendant's conduct:
- A. was within a customary license or tolerance, which was not expressly refused by the person whose interest was infringed and which is not inconsistent with the purpose of the law defining the crime; or
- B. did not actually cause or threaten the harm sought to be prevented by the law defining the crime or did so only to an extent too trivial to warrant the condemnation of conviction; or
- C. Presents such other extenuations that it cannot reasonably be regarded as envisaged by the legislature in defining the crime.
- 2. The court shall not dismiss a prosecution under this section without filing a written statement of its reasons.

#### Section 13. Presumptions

When this Code establishes a presumption with respect to any fact which is an element of a crime, it has the following consequences:

- 1. When there is sufficient evidence of the facts which give rise to the presumption to go to the jury, the issue of the existence of the presumed fact must be submitted to the jury, unless the court is satisfied that the evidence as a whole clearly negatives existence of the presumed fact; and
- 2. When the issue of the existence of the presumed fact is submitted to the jury, the court shall charge that while the presumed fact must, on all the evidence, be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, the law declares that the jury may regard the facts giving rise to the presumption as sufficient evidence of the presumed fact.

#### July 15, 1974

#### TITLE D1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

#### Chapter 12 Criminal Liability

#### Section 1. Basis for Liability

- 1. A person commits a crime only if he engages in voluntary conduct, including a voluntary act, or the voluntary omission to perform an act of which he is physically capable.
- 2. A person who omits to perform an act does not commit a crime unless he has a legal duty to perform the act.
- 3. Possession is voluntary conduct if the possessor knowingly procured or received the thing possessed or was aware of his control thereof for a sufficient period to have been able to terminate his possession.

#### Section 2. Ignorance and Mistake

- 1. Ignorance or mistake as to a matter of fact or law is a defense if:
- A. the ignorance or mistake raises a reasonable doubt concerning the kind of culpability required for the commission of the crime; or
- B. the law provides that the state of mind established by such ignorance or mistake constitutes a defense.

- 2. Although ignorance or mistake would otherwise afford a defense to the crime charged, the defense is not available if the defendant would be guilty of another crime had the situation been as he supposed.
- 3. A mistaken belief that facts exist which would constitute an affirmative defense is not an affirmative defense, except as otherwise expressly provided.
- 4. A belief that conduct does not legally constitute a crime is an affirmative defense to a prosecution for that crime based upon such conduct if:
- A. the statute violated is not known to the defendant and has not been published or otherwise reasonably made available prior to the conduct alleged; or
- B. the defendant acts in reasonable reliance upon an official statement, afterward determined to be invalid or erroneous, contained in:
  - (1) a statute, ordinance or other enactment;
  - (2) a final judicial decision, opinion or judgment;
  - (3) an administrative order or grant of permission; or
- (4) an official interpretation of the public officer or body charged by law with responsibility for the interpretation, administration or enforcement of the statute defining the crime. This subsection does not impose any duty to make any such official interpretation.

#### Section 3. Immaturity

- 1. No criminal proceeding shall be commenced against any person under the age of eighteen that the time of such proceeding except as the result of a finding of probable cause authorized by section 2611 (3) of Title 15, or in regard to the offenses over which juvenile courts have no jurisdiction, as provided in section 2552 of Title 15.
- 2. When it appears that the defendant's age, at the time the crime charged was committed, may have been such that the court lacks jurisdiction by reason of paragraph 1, the court shall hold a hearing on the matter and the burden shall be on the state to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the court does not lack jurisdiction on such grounds.

## Section 4. Duress

- 1. It is a defense that when a defendant engages in conduct which would otherwise constitute a crime, he is compelled to do so by threat of imminent death or serious bodily injury to himself or another person or because he was compelled to do so by force.
- 2. For purposes of this section, compulsion exists only if the force, threat or circumstances are such as would have prevented a person of reasonable firmness in the person's situation from resisting the pressure.

July 15, 1974

12-4

- 3. The defense set forth in this section is not available:
- A. to a person who intentionally or knowingly committed the homicide for which he is being tried; or
- B. to a person who recklessly placed himself in a situation in which it was reasonably probable that he would be subjected to duress; or
- C. to a person who with criminal negligence placed himself in a situation in which it was reasonably probable that he would be subjected to duress, whenever criminal negligence suffices to establish culpability for the offense charged.

#### Section 5. Consent

- 1. It is a defense that when a defendant engages in conduct which would otherwise constitute a crime against the person or property of another, that such other consented to the conduct and that an element of the crime is negated as a result of such consent.
- 2. When conduct is a crime because it causes or threatens bodily injury, consent to such conduct or to the infliction of such injury is a defense only if:
- A. neither the injury inflicted nor the injury threatened was such as to endanger life or to cause serious bodily injury; or
- B. the conduct and the injury are reasonably foreseeable hazards of joint participation in a lawful athletic contest or competitive sport; or

- C. the conduct and the injury are reasonably forseeable hazards of an occupation or profession or of medical or scientific experimentation conducted by recognized methods and the persons subjected to such conduct or injury have been made aware of the risks involved prior to giving consent.
- 3. Consent is not a defense within the meaning of this section if:
- A. it is given by a person who is declared by a statute or by a judicial decision to be legally incompetent to authorize the conduct charged to constitute the crime, and such incompetence is manifest or known to the actor; or
- B. it is given by a person who by reason of intoxication, mental illness or defect, or youth, is manifestly unable or known by the defendant to be unable, to make a reasonable judgment as to the nature or harmfulness of the conduct charged to constitute the crime; or
  - C. it is induced by force, duress or deception.

## Section 6. Causation

Unless otherwise provided, when causing a result is an element of a crime, causation may be found where the result would not have occurred but for the conduct of the defendant operating either alone or concurrently with another cause, unless the concurrent cause was clearly sufficient to produce the result and the conduct of the defendant was clearly insufficient.

#### Section 7. Intoxication

- 1. It is a defense that when a defendant engages in conduct which would otherwise constitute a crime, there is evidence of intoxication which is found to create a reasonable doubt concerning an element of the crime. Otherwise, intoxication is no defense.
- 2. As used in this section, "intoxication" means a disturbance of mental or physical capacities resulting from the introduction of alcohol, drugs, or other similar substances into the body.

#### Section 8. Criminal Liability for Conduct of Another; Accomplices

- 1. A person may be guilty of a crime if it is committed by the conduct of another person for which he is legally accountable as provided in this section.
- 2. A person is legally accountable for the conduct of another person when:
- A. acting with the intention, knowledge, recklessness or criminal negligence that is sufficient for the commission of the crime, he causes an innocent person, or a person not criminally responsible, to engage in such conduct; or
- B. he is made accountable for the conduct of such other person by the law defining the crime; or
- C. he is an accomplice of such other person in the commission of the crime, as provided in subsection 3.
- 3. A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of a crime if:

- A. with the intent of promoting or facilitating the commission of the crime, he solicits such other person to commit the crime, or aids or agrees to aid or attempts to aid such other person in planning or committing the crime. A person is an accomplice under this subsection to any crime the commission of which was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of his conduct; or
- B. his conduct is expressly declared by law to establish his complicity.
- 4. A person who is legally incapable of committing a particular crime himself may be guilty thereof if it is committed by the conduct of another person for which he is legally accountable.
- 5. Unless otherwise expressly provided, a person is not an accomplice in a crime committed by another person if:
  - A. he is the victim of that crime; or
- B. the crime is so defined that it cannot be committed without his cooperation; or
- C. he terminates his complicity prior to the commission of the crime by
- (1) informing his accomplice that he has abandoned the criminal activity and
- (2) leaving the scene of the prospective crime, if he is present thereat.
- 6. An accomplice may be convicted on proof of the commission of the crime and of his complicity therein, though the person claimed to have committed the crime has not been prosecuted or convicted, or has been convicted of a different crime or degree of crime, or has an immunity to prosecution or conviction, or has been acquitted.

## Section 9. Mental Ability to Stand Trial

- 1. A motion for trial continuance may be filed by the defendant or by the prosecuting attorney alleging that the defendant's competency to stand trial is impaired by mental disability; that is, that the defendant lacks sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding, or that he lacks sufficient understanding of the proceedings against him, or both.
- 2. Upon the filing of such a motion, or upon the court's independent determination that there is a question regarding the defendant's competency to stand trial, the court shall, with notice to the prosecution and the defendant, conduct a hearing. If, at the hearing, the court determines that there is sufficient reason to believe that further examination of the defendant by licensed psychiatrists or psychologists is necessary to determine the defendant's trial competency and his prognosis for greater competency, the court may adjourn the hearing for this purpose for a period of no more than three weeks.
- 3. The court shall determine, at the initial hearing if adjournment has been determined to be unnecessary, or at a subsequent hearing no
  more than three weeks after the initial hearing if adjournment was
  necessary;
- A. whether the defendant is incompetent to stand trial because of mental disability and, if so,

- B. whether there is substantial probability that the defendant will become competent to stand trial within six months.
- C. If the court finds that psychotherapy or other medical treatment is required to remedy the defendant's disability, the court shall determine whether an adequate individual plan for the defendant's treatment has been presented by the prosecuting attorney. An adequate plan must specify the program and facilities available for treatment of the defendant and the prior treatment experiences with comparably disabled persons which is the basis for the finding of a substantial probability that the defendant will become competent to stand trial within six months.
- 4. If the court makes affirmative determinations under subsections 3A and 3B, the court shall grant a trial continuance of no more than three months. If the defendant requires psychotherapy or other medical treatment to remedy his disability but is unable to afford such treatment from his own resources, the court shall order that the state provide the necessary services to the defendant on an out-patient basis unless it is clearly necessary that treatment be provided on an in-patient basis to make him competent. If in-patient treatment is clearly necessary, the court may order the defendant confined for treatment in an appropriate state medical facility.

- 5. No more than three months following the grant of the trial continuance authorized by subsection 4, the court shall conduct a hearing to determine
- A. whether the defendant remains incompetent to stand trial because of mental disability and, if so,
- B. whether, on the basis of the defendant's progress toward remedying his disability, there is a substantial probability that the defendant will become competent to stand trial within three months.
- C. If the court makes affirmative determinations under subsections 5A and 5B, the court may grant a further trial continuance for no more than three months. The court may order, or continue its previous order, that the defendant be confined for treatment in an appropriate state medical facility as provided in subsection 4.
- 6. A motion for trial continuance shall not be granted solely because tranquilizing drugs or other medications have been or are being administered to the defendant under medical direction, unless the court finds that there is substantial probability that the defendant will not require the drugs or medication to be competent for trial within the appropriate time limit prescribed by subsection 3 or 5.

- 7. If, under the procedures set out in subsections 3 or 5, the court determines that a defendant is incompetent to stand trial because of mental disability and that there is no substantial probability that such incompetency has not been remedied within the time prescribed by subsection 5, the court shall grant no trial continuance on the ground of the defendant's incompetency. If the prosecuting attorney indicates an intention to bring the defendant to trial, the court shall determine at a pretrial hearing whether fundamental fairness to the defendant requires that special trial or pretrial procedures be used in order to redress his disabilities. The court may prescribe any or all of the special pretrial and trial procedures set out below, or such other procedures as it deems necessary:
- A. Prior to trial, the court shall review all the evidence that the prosecution intends to offer at trial and shall order pretrial disclosure of evidence that would materially assist the defendant in overcoming the disabilities under which he labors. Disclosure of evidence that may endanger the lives of witnesses, or in any way promote substantial injustice, shall not be ordered;
- B. On motion for directed verdict, either before or after jury deliberation, the court shall require from the prosecution a higher burden of proof than would obtain in an ordinary criminal prosecution, and the court shall insist on extensive

corroboration of the prosecution's case with respect to issues on which the defendant is likely to be prevented by his disability from effective rebuttal.

- C. If the trial is before a jury, the court shall instruct the jury that in weighing the evidence against the defendant it should take into account, in the defendant's favor, the disabilities under which he went to trial. If trial is before the judge sitting alone, he shall take account of those disabilities.
- 8. Any conviction shall be set aside if evidence that was not available for trial because of the defendant's incompetence subsequently becomes available and might have led at trial to a reasonable doubt regarding the defendant's guilt.

## Section 10. Mental Abnormality

- 1. An accused is not criminally responsible if, at the time of the criminal conduct, as a result of mental disease or defect, he either lacked substantial capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, or lacked substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct.
- 2. As used in this section "mental disease or defect" means any abnormal condition of the mind, regardless of its medical label, which substantially affects mental or emotional processes and substantially impairs the processes and capacity of a person to control his actions.
- 3. The defendant shall have the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he lacks criminal responsibility as described in subsection 1.
- 4. Evidence of any abnormal condition of the mind is admissible in order to raise a reasonable doubt concerning the existence of any culpable state of mind which is an element of the crime.

## Section 11. Procedure Upon Plea of Not Guilty Coupled with Plea of Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity

- 1. When the defendant enters a plea of not guilty together with a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity, he shall also elect whether the trial shall be in two stages as provided for in this section, or a unitary trial in which both the issues of guilt and of insanity are submitted simultaneously to the jury. At the defendant's election, the jury shall be informed that the two pleas have been made and that the trial will be in two stages.
- 2. If a two stage trial is elected by the defendant, there shall be a separation of the issue of guilt from the issue of insanity in the following manner:
- A. The issue of guilt shall be tried first and the issue of insanity tried only if the jury returns a verdict of guilty. If the jury returns a verdict of not guilty, the proceedings shall terminate.
- B. Evidence of mental disease or defect, as defined in section 10, shall not be admissible in the guilt or innocence phase of the trial, but shall only be admissible in the second phase following a verdict of guilty.
- 3. The issue of insanity shall be tried before the same jury as tried the issue of guilt.

- 4. If the jury in the first phase returns a guilty verdict, the trial shall proceed to the second phase. The defendant and the state may rely upon evidence admitted during the first phase or they may recall witnesses. Any evidence relevant to the defendant's responsibility, or lack thereof, under section 10, is admissable. The order of proof shall reflect that the defendant has the burden of establishing his lack of responsibility. The jury shall return a verdict that the defendant is responsible, or not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect excluding responsibility. If the defendant is found responsible, the court shall sentence him according to law.
- 5. This section shall not apply to cases tried before the court without a jury.

### Section 12 Criminal Liability of an Organization

- 1. An organization is guilty of a crime when:
- A. It omits to discharge a specific duty of affirmative performance imposed on it by law, and the omission is prohibited by this code or by a statute defining a criminal offense outside of this code; or
- B. The conduct or result specified in the definition of the crime is engaged in or caused by an agent of the organization while acting within the scope of his office or employment.
- 2. It is no defense to the criminal liability of an organization that the individual upon whose conduct the liability of the organization is based has not been prosecuted or convicted, has been convicted of a different offense, or is immune from prosecution.

# Section 13. Individual Liability for Conduct on Behalf of Organization

1. An individual is criminally liable for any conduct he performs in the name of an organization or in its behalf to the same extent as if it were performed in his own name or behalf.

Such an individual shall be sentenced as if the conduct had been performed in his own name or behalf.

2. If a criminal statute imposes a duty to act on an organization, any agent of the organization having primary responsibility for the discharge of the duty is criminally liable if he recklessly omits to perform the required act, and he shall be sentenced as if the duty were imposed by law directly upon him.

## Section 14. Military Orders

- 1. It is a defense if the defendant engaged in the conduct charged to constitute a crime in obedience to an order of his superior in the armed services which he did not know to be unlawful.
- 2. If the defendant was reckless in failing to know the unlawful nature of such an order, the defense is unavailable in a prosecution for a crime for which recklessness suffices to establish liability.

		1	
,			
1			

#### TITLE D1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

## Chapter 13 Justification

#### Section 1. General Rules

- 1. Conduct which is justifiable under this Chapter constitutes a defense to any crime; provided, however, that if a person is justified in using force against another, but he recklessly injures or creates a risk of injury to third persons, the justification afforded by this chapter is unavailable in a prosecution for such recklessness.
- 2. The fact that conduct may be justifiable under this chapter does not abolish or impair any remedy for such conduct which is available in any civil action.

## Section 2. Public Duty

1. Any conduct, other than the use of physical force under circumstances specifically dealt with in other sections of this chapter, is justifiable when it is authorized by law, including laws defining functions of public servants or the assistance to be rendered public servants in the performance of their duties; laws governing the execution of legal process or of military duty; and judgments or orders of courts or other public tribunals.

- 2. The justification afforded by this section to public servants is not precluded:
- A. by the fact that the law, order or process was defective provided it appeared valid on its face and the defect was not knowingly caused or procured by such public servant; or,
- B. as to persons assisting public servants, by the fact that the public servant to whom assistance was rendered exceeded his legal authority or that there was a defect of jurisdiction in the legal process or decree of the court or tribunal, provided the actor believed the public servant to be engaged in the performance of his duties or that the legal process or court decree was competent.

## Section 3. Competing Harms

1. Conduct which the actor believes to be necessary to avoid imminent physical harm to himself or another is justifiable if the desirability and urgency of avoiding such harm outweigh, according to ordinary standards of reasonableness, the harm sought to be prevented by the statute defining the crime charged. The desirability and urgency of such conduct may not rest upon considerations pertaining to the morality and advisability of such statute.

2. When the actor was reckless or criminally negligent in bringing about the circumstances requiring a choice of harms or in appraising the necessity of his conduct, the justification provided in subsection 1 does not apply in a prosecution for any crime for which recklessness or criminal negligence, as the case may be, suffices to establish criminal liability.

## Section 4. Use of Force in Defense of Premises

A person in possession or control of premises or a person who is licensed or privileged to be thereon is justified in using non-deadly force upon another when and to the extent that he reasonably believes it necessary to prevent or terminate the commission of a criminal trespass by such other in or upon such premises, but he may use deadly force under such circumstances only in defense of a person as prescribed in section 8 or when he reasonably believes it necessary to prevent an attempt by the trespasser to commit arson.

## Section 5. Use of Force in Property Offenses

A person is justified in using a reasonable degree of non-deadly force upon another when and to the extent that he reasonably believes it necessary to prevent what is or reasonably appears to be an unlawful taking of his property, or criminal mischief, or to retake his property immediately following its taking; but he may use deadly force under such circumstances only in defense of a person as prescribed in section 8.

## Section 6. Physical Force by Persons with Special Responsibilities

1. A parent, foster parent, guardian or other similar person responsible for the long term general care and welfare of a person under the age of 17 is justified in using a reasonable degree of force against such person when and to the extent that he reasonably believes it necessary to prevent or punish such person's misconduct. A person to whom such parent, foster parent, guardian or other responsible person has expressly delegated permission to so prevent or punish misconduct is similarly justified in using a reasonable degree of force.

- 2. A teacher or person otherwise entrusted with the care or supervision of a person under the age of 17 for special and limited purposes is justified in using a reasonable degree of force against any such person who creates a disturbance when and to the extent that he reasonably believes it necessary to control the disturbing behavior or to remove such person from the scene of such disturbance.
- 3. A person responsible for the general care and supervision of a mentally incompetent person is justified in using a reasonable degree of force against such person who creates a disturbance when and to the extent that he reasonably believes it necessary to control the disturbing behavior or to remove such person from the scene of such disturbance.
  - 4. The justification extended in subsections 1, 2 and 3 does not apply to the purposeful or reckless use of force that creates a substantial risk of death, serious bodily injury, or extraordinary pain, mental distress or humiliation.
  - 5. Whenever a person is required by law to enforce rules and regulations, or to maintain decorum or safety, in a vessel, aircraft, vehicle, train or other carrier, or in a place where others are assembled, may use non-deadly force when and to the extent that he reasonably believes it necessary for such purposes, but he may use deadly force only when he reasonably believes it necessary to prevent death or serious bodily injury.

- 6. A person acting under a reasonable belief that another person is about to commit suicide or to inflict serious bodily injury upon himself may use a degree of force on such person as he reasonably believes to be necessary to thwart such a result.
- 7. A licensed physician, or a person acting under his direction, may use force for the purpose of administering a recognized form of treatment which he reasonably believes will tend to safeguard the physical or mental health of the patient, provided such treatment is administered:
- A. with consent of the patient or, if the patient is a minor or incompetent person, with the consent of the person entrusted with his care and supervision; or
- B. in an emergency relating to health when the physician reasonably believes that no one competent to consent can be consulted and that a reasonable person concerned for the welfare of the patient would consent.
- 8. A person identified in this section for purposes of specifying the rule of justification herein provided, is not precluded from using force declared to be justifiable by another section of this chapter.

#### Section 7. Physical Force in Law Enforcement

- 1. A law enforcement officer is justified in using a reasonable degree of non-deadly force upon another person:
- A. when and to the extent that he reasonably believes it necessary to effect an arrest or to prevent the escape from custody of an arrested person, unless he knows that the arrest or detention is illegal; or,
- B. to defend himself or a third person from what he reasonably believes to be the imminent use of non-deadly force encountered while attempting to effect such an arrest or while seeking to prevent such an escape.
- 2. A law enforcement officer is justified in using deadly force only when he reasonably believes such force is necessary
- A. to defend himself or a third person from what he reasonably believes is the imminent use of deadly force; or
- B. to effect an arrest or prevent the escape from arrest of a person whom he reasonably believes
- (1) has committed a crime involving the use or threatened use of deadly force, or is using a deadly weapon in attempting to escape, or otherwise indicates that he is likely seriously to endanger human life or to inflict serious bodily injury unless apprehended without delay; and

- (2) he had made reasonable efforts to advise the person that he is a law enforcement officer attempting to effect an arrest and has reasonable grounds to believe that the person is aware of these facts.
- 3. A private person who has been directed by a law enforcement officer to assist him in effecting an arrest or preventing an escape from custody is justified in using
- A. a reasonable degree of non-deadly force when and to the extent that he reasonably believes such to be necessary to carry out the officer's direction, unless he believes the arrest is illegal; or
- B. deadly force only when he reasonably believes such to be necessary to defend himself or a third person from what he reasonably believes to be the imminent use of deadly force, or when the law enforcement officer directs him to use deadly force and he believes such officer himself is authorized to use deadly force under the circumstances.
- 4. A private person acting on his own is justified in using non-deadly force upon another when and to the extent that he reasonably believes it necessary to arrest or prevent the escape from arrest of such other whom he reasonably believes to have committed a crime; but he is justified in using deadly force for such purpose only when he reasonably believes it necessary to defend himself or a third person from what he reasonably believes to be the imminent use of deadly force.

- 5. A guard or law enforcement officer in a facility where persons are confined, pursuant to an order of a court or as a result of an arrest, is justified in using deadly force against such persons under the circumstances described in subsection 2 of this section. He is justified in using a reasonable degree of non-deadly force when and to the extent they reasonably believe it necessary to prevent any other escape from such a facility.
- 6. A reasonable belief that another has committed a crime means such belief in facts or circumstances which, if true, would in law constitute an offense by such person. If the facts and circumstances reasonably believed would not constitute an offense, an erroneous though reasonable belief that the law is otherwise does not make justifiable the use of force to make an arrest or prevent an escape.
- 7. Use of force that is not justifiable under this section in effecting an arrest does not render illegal an arrest that is otherwise legal and the use of such unjustifiable force does not render inadmissible anything seized incident to a legal arrest.
- 8. Nothing in this section constitutes justification for conduct by a law enforcement officer amounting to an offense against innocent persons whom he is not seeking to arrest or retain in custody.

#### Section 8. Physical Force in Defense of a Person

- 1. A person is justified in using a reasonable degree of non-deadly force upon another person in order to defend himself or a third person from what he reasonably believes to be the imminent use of unlawful, non-deadly force by such other person, and he may use a degree of such force which he reasonably believes to be necessary for such purpose. However, such force is not justifiable if:
- A. With a purpose to cause physical harm to another person, he provoked the use of unlawful, non-deadly force by such other person; or
- B. He was the initial aggressor, unless after such aggression he withdraws from the encounter and effectively communicates to such other person his intent to do so, but the latter notwithstanding continues the use or threat of unlawful, non-deadly force; or
- C. The force involved was the product of a combat by agreement not authorized by law.
- 2. A person is justified in using deadly force upon another person when he reasonably believes that such other person is about to use unlawful, deadly force against the actor or a third person, or is likely to use any unlawful force against the occupant of a dwelling while committing or attempting to commit a burglary of

such dwelling, or is committing or about to commit kidnapping or a forcible sex offense. However, a person is not justified in using deadly force on another to defend himself or a third person from deadly force by the other:

- A. if, with a purpose to cause physical harm to another, he provoked the use of unlawful deadly force by such other; or
  - B. if he knows that he can, with complete safety
- 1. retreat from the encounter, except that he is not required to retreat if he is in his dwelling and was not the initial aggressor, provided that if he is a law enforcement officer or a private person assisting him at his direction and was acting pursuant to section 7, he need not retreat; or
- 2. surrender property to a person asserting a claim of right thereto; or
- 3. comply with a demand that he abstain from performing an act which he is not obliged to perform; nor is the use of deadly force justifiable when, with the purpose of causing death or serious bodily harm, the actor has provoked the use of force against himself in the same encounter.

			•	
•				
				£.,
	,			
		•		

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 21 Offenses of General Applicability

#### Section 1. Conspiracy

- 1. A person is guilty of conspiracy if, with the intent that conduct be performed which, in fact, would constitute a crime or crimes, he agrees with one or more others to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct.
- 2. If a person knows that one with whom he agrees has agreed or will agree with a third person to effect the same objective, he shall be deemed to have agreed with the third person, whether or not he knows the identity of the third person.
- 3. A person who conspires to commit more than one crime is guilty of only one conspiracy if the crimes are the object of the same agreement or continuous conspiratorial relationship.
- 4. No person may be convicted of conspiracy to commit a crime unless it is alleged and proved that he, or one with whom he conspired, took a substantial step toward commission of the crime. A substantial step is any conduct which, under the circumstances in which it occurs, is strongly corroborative of the firmness of the actor's intent to complete commission of the crime; provided that speech alone may not constitute a substantial step.

- 5. Accomplice liability for crimes committed in furtherance of the conspiracy is to be determined by the provisions of section 8 of chapter 12.
- 6. For the purpose of determining the period of limitations under section 8 of chapter 11:
- A. A conspiracy shall be deemed to continue until the criminal conduct which is its object is performed, or the agreement that it be performed is frustrated or is abandoned by the defendant and by those with whom he conspired. For purposes of this subsection, the object of the conspiracy includes escape from the scene of the crime, distribution of the fruits of the crime, and measures, other than silence, for concealing the commission of the crime or the identity of its perpetrators.
- B. If a person abandons the agreement, the conspiracy terminates as to him only when: (i) he informs a law enforcement officer of the existence of the conspiracy and of his participation therein; or (ii) he advises those with whom he conspired of his abandonment. The defendant shall prove his conduct under (ii) by a preponderance of the evidence.
- 7. It is no defense to prosecution under this section that the person with whom the defendant is alleged to have conspired has been acquitted, has not been prosecuted or convicted, has been convicted of a different offense, or is immune from or otherwise not subject to prosecution.

- 8. It is a defense to prosecution under this section that, had the objective of the conspiracy been achieved, the defendant would have been immune from liability under the law defining the offense, or as an accomplice under section 8 of chapter 12.
- 9. Conspiracy is an offense classified as one grade less serious than the classification of the most serious crime which is its object, except that conspiracy to commit Aggravated Murder or Murder is a class A crime. If the most serious crime is a class D crime, the conspiracy is a class D crime.

#### Section 2. Attempt

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal attempt if, acting with the kind of culpability required for the commission of the crime, and with the intent to complete the commission of the crime, he engages in conduct which, in fact, constitutes a substantial step toward its commission. A substantial step is any conduct which goes beyond mere preparation and is strongly corroborative of the firmness of the actor's intent to complete the commission of the crime.
- 2. It is no defense to a prosecution under this section that it was impossible to commit the crime which the defendant attempted, provided that it would have been committed had the factual and legal attendant circumstances specified in the definition of the crime been as the defendant believed them to be.

- 3. A person who engages in conduct intending to aid another to commit a crime is guilty of criminal attempt if the conduct would establish his complicity under section 8 of chapter 12 were the crime committed by the other person, even if the other person is not guilty of committing or attempting the crime.
- 4. Criminal attempt is an offense classified as one grade less serious than the classification of the offense attempted, except that an attempt to commit a class D crime is a class D crime, and an attempt to commit Aggravated Murder or Murder is a class A crime.

#### Section 3. Solicitation

- 1. A person is guilty of solicitation if he commands or attempts to induce another person to commit a particular class A or class B crime, whether as principal or accomplice, with the intent to cause the imminent commission of the crime, and under circumstances which the actor knows make it very likely that the crime will take place.
- 2. It is a defense to prosecution under this section that, if the criminal object were achieved, the defendant would not be guilty of a crime under the law defining the crime or as an accomplice under section 8 of chapter 12.
- 3. It is no defense to a prosecution under this section that the person solicited could not be guilty of the crime because of lack of responsibility or culpability, or other incapacity or defense.

4. Solicitation is an offense classified as one grade less serious than the classification of the crime solicited, except that solicitation to commit a class D crime is a class D crime, and solicitation to commit Aggravated Murder or Murder is a class A crime.

## Section 4. General Provisions Regarding Chapter 21

- 1. It shall not be a crime to conspire to commit, or to attempt, or solicit, any crime set forth in this chapter.
- 2. There is an affirmative defense of renunciation in the following circumstances:
- A. In a prosecution for attempt under section 2, it is an affirmative defense that, under circumstances manifesting a voluntary and complete renunciation of his criminal intent, the defendant avoided the commission of the crime attempted by abandoning his criminal effort and, if mere abandonment was insufficient to accomplish such avoidance, by taking further and affirmative steps which prevented the commission thereof.
- B. In a prosecution for solicitation under section 3, or for conspiracy under section 1, it is an affirmative defense that, under circumstances manifesting a voluntary and complete renunciation of his criminal intent, the defendant prevented the commission of the crime solicited or of the crime contemplated by the conspiracy, as the case may be.

C. A renunciation is not "voluntary and complete" within the meaning of this section if it is motivated in whole or in part by (i) a belief that a circumstance exists which increases the probability of detection or apprehension of the defendant or another participant in the criminal operation, or which makes more difficult the consummation of the crime; or (ii) a decision to postpone the criminal conduct until another time or to substitute another victim or another but similar objective.

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 22 Offenses Against the Person

#### Section 1. Aggravated Murder

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated murder if he commits murder, as defined in section 2 and, at the time of his actions, one or more of the circumstances enumerated in subsection 2 was in fact present.
  - 2. The circumstances referred to in subsection 1 are:
- A. The murder was committed by a person under sentence for murder or aggravated murder.
- B. The person had previously been convicted of a crime involving the use of serious violence to any person.
- C. The person knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons.
- D. The murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing lawful arrest or effecting an escape from lawful custody.
  - E. The murder was committed for pecuniary benefit.
- F. The person knowingly inflicted great physical suffering on the victim.
- 3. An indictment for aggravated murder must allege one or more of the circumstances enumerated in subsection 2.

#### Section 2. Murder

- 1. A person is guilty of murder if he causes the death of another intending to cause such death, or knowing that death will almost certainly result from his conduct.
  - [2. The sentence for murder shall be as authorized in chapter 34.]

#### Section 3. Promoting Criminal Homicide

1. A person is guilty of promoting criminal homicide if, acting alone or with one or more other persons in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, or immediate flight after committing, or attempting to commit (any class A crime, or escape) he or another participant causes the death of a person and such death is a natural and probable consequence of such commission, attempt or flight.

- 2. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under this section that the defendant:
- A. did not commit the homicidal act or in any way solicit, command, induce, procure, counsel or aid the commission thereof; and
- B. was not armed with a firearm, destructive device, dangerous weapon, or other weapon which under the circumstances indicated a readiness to inflict serious bodily injury; and
- C. reasonably believed that no other participant was armed with such a firearm, device or weapon; and
- D. reasonably believed that no other participant intended to engage in conduct likely to result in death or serious bodily injury.
- [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

  Section 4. Manslaughter
  - 1. A person is guilty of manslaughter if he:
- A. causes the death of another human being by acting in disregard of an awareness he has that his conduct will create a high risk of such death, and his disregard of that risk is a gross deviation from the standard of care that a reasonable person would observe in his situation; or
- B. causes the death of another human being under circumstances which would be aggravated murder or murder, except that he causes the death under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance or extreme mental retardation. The defendant shall prove by a preponderance of the evidence the presence and influence of such extreme

emotional disturbance or mental retardation. Evidence of extreme emotional disturbance or mental retardation may not be introduced by the defendant unless the defendant at the time of entering his plea of not guilty or within ten days thereafter or at such later time as the court may for cause permit, files written notice of his intention to introduce such evidence. In any event, the court shall allow the prosecution a reasonable time after said notice to prepare for trial, or a reasonable continuance during trial.

[2. Manslaughter is a class B crime, provided that it is a defense which reduces it to a class C crime if it occurs as the result of the reckless operation of a motor vehicle.]

#### Section 5. Criminally Negligent Homicide

A person is guilty of criminally negligent homicide if, with criminal negligence, he causes the death of another. [Criminally negligent homicide is a class D crime.

# Section 6. Causing or Aiding Suicide

A person is guilty of causing or aiding suicide if he intentionally aids or solicits another to commit suicide, and the other commits or attempts suicide. [Causing or aiding suicide is a class D crime.]

#### Section 7. Assault

- 1. A person is guilty of assault if he intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly causes bodily injury or offensive physical contact to another.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

## Section 8. Aggravated Assault

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly causes:
  - A. serious bodily injury to another; or
  - B. bodily injury to another by means of a deadly weapon; or
- C. bodily injury to another under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

## Section 9. Criminal Threatening

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal threatening if he intentionally or knowingly places another person in fear of imminent bodily injury.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

## Section 10 Endangering Human Life

- 1. A person is guilty of endangering human life if he knowingly violates any federal, state, or local statute or regulation
  whose primary purpose is to protect persons employed in an organization, or consumers of the organization's products, from bodily injury.
- 2. The penalty for violation of this section shall be in addition to, and not in place of, any penalty otherwise authorized by law for violation of the statute or regulation.
- 3. As used in this section "bodily injury" includes, but is not limited to, the physical harm caused by prolonged exposure to, or use of, any substance.
- 4. It is no defense to a prosecution under this section that compliance with the statute or regulation would have caused economic hardship in any degree.
  - 5. Endangering human life is a class B crime.

#### Section 11. Terrorizing

- 1. A person is guilty of terrorizing if he communicates to any person a threat to commit or cause to be committed a crime of violence dangerous to human life, against the person threatened or another, and the natural and probable consequence of such a threat, whether or not such consequence in fact occurs, is:
- A. to place the person to whom the threat is communicated in reasonable fear that the crime will be committed; or
- B. to cause evacuation of a building, place of assembly or facility of public transport.
  - [2. Terrorizing is a class D crime.]

#### Section 12. Reckless Endangerment

- 1. A person is guilty of reckless endangerment if he creates a substantial risk of serious bodily injury to another person by acting in disregard of an awareness he has that his conduct will create such a risk.
  - [2. Reckless endangerment is a class D crime.]

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 23 Sex Offenses

#### Section 1. Definitions and General Provisions

- 1. In this chapter the following definitions apply:
- A. "spouse" means a person legally married to the actor, but does not include a legally married person living apart from the actor under a judicial decree of separation.
- B. "sexual intercourse" means any penetration of the female sex organ by the male sex organ. Emission is not required.
- C. "sexual act" means any act of sexual gratification between two persons involving direct physical contact between the sex organs of one and the mouth or anus of the other.
- D. "sexual contact" means any touching of the genitals, [buttocks, or female breast, directly or through clothing], other than as would constitute a sexual act, for the purpose of arousing or gratifying sexual desire.
- 2. No person may be prosecuted for violating this chapter unless the alleged offense was reported to or discovered by a law
  enforcement officer (i) within three months after its occurrence; or
  (ii) within one month after a parent, guardian, or other competent
  person interested in the victim and who is not a party to the offense
  learns of it, if the alleged victim was younger than 16 years of age,
  incompetent, or unable to make complaint.

3. No person may be convicted for violating this chapter unless there is direct or circumstantial evidence, deemed credible by the court, other than the testimony of the alleged victim, which proves or which corroborates testimony of the alleged victim, and which proves the commission of the crime by the defendant.

## Section 2. Rape

- 1. A person is guilty of rape if he engages in sexual intercourse
  - A. with any person under the age of 14; or
- B. with any person, not his spouse, and he compels such person to submit:
  - (i) by force and against the person's will; or
- (ii) by threat that death, serious bodily injury, or kidnapping will be imminently inflicted on the person or on any other human being.
- 2. It is an affirmative defense that the defendant and the victim were living together as man and wife at the time of the crime.
- [3. Rape is a class A crime. It is, however, a defense which reduces the crime to a class B crime that the victim was a voluntary social companion of the defendant at the time of the crime and had, on that occasion, permitted the defendant sexual contact.]

#### Section 3. Gross Sexual Misconduct

A person is guilty of gross sexual misconduct

- 1. if he engages in a sexual act with another person, not his spouse, and
  - A. he compels such other person to submit:
    - (i) by force and against the will of such other person; or
    - (ii) by threat that death, serious bodily injury, or kidnapping will be imminently inflicted on such other person or on any other human being; or
  - B. the other person is under the age of 14; or
- 2. if he engages in sexual intercourse or a sexual act with another person, not his spouse, and
- A. he has substantially impaired the other person's power to appraise or control his sex acts by administering or employing drugs, intoxicants, or other similar means; or
- B. he compels or induces the other to engage in such sexual act by any threat; or
- C. the other person suffers from mental illness or which defect that is reasonably apparent or known to the actor, and/in fact renders the other substantially incapable of appraising the nature of the contact involved; or

23-4

- D. the other person is unconscious or otherwise physically incapable of resisting and has not consented to such sexual act; or
- E. the other person is in official custody as a probationer or a parolee, or is detained in a hospital, prison, or other institution, and the actor has supervisory or disciplinary authority over such other person.
- 3. It is a defense to a prosecution under subsection 2A that the other person voluntarily consumed or allowed administration of the substance with knowledge of its nature.
- [4. Violation of subsection 1 is a class A crime. It is, however, a defense to prosecution under subsection 1A which reduces the crime to a class B crime that the other person was a voluntary social companion of the defendant at the time of the offense and had, on that occasion, permitted him sexual contact. It is an affirmative defense to a prosecution under subsection 1A that the defendant and the victim were living together as man and wife at the time of the crime.]
- [5. Violation of subsection 2A, 2C or 2E is a class B crime. Violation of subsection 2B or 2D is a class C crime.]

#### Section 4. Sexual Abuse of Minors

- 1. A person is guilty of sexual abuse of a minor if, being at least 18 years of age he engages in sexual intercourse or a sexual act with another person who has attained his 14th birthday but has not attained his 18th birthday.
- 2. It is a defense to a prosecution under this section that the actor reasonably believed the other person to be 18 years of age or older.
  - 3. Sexual abuse of minors is a class C crime.

## Section 5. Unlawful Sexual Contact

- 1. A person is guilty of unlawful sexual contact if he intentionally subjects another person, not his spouse, to any sexual contact, and
- A. the other person has not expressly or impliedly acquiesed in such sexual contact; or
- B. the other person is unconscious or otherwise physically incapable of resisting, and has not consented to the sexual contact; or
- C. the other person is less than 14 years of age and the actor is at least 3 years older; or

- D. the other person suffers from a mental disease or defect that is reasonably apparent or known to the actor which in fact renders the other person substantially incapable of appraising the nature of the contact involved; or
- E. the other person is in official custody as a probationer or parolee or is detained in a hospital, prison or other institution and the actor has supervisory or disciplinary authority over such other person.
- 2. Unlawful sexual contact is a class D crime, except that a violation of subwection 1C is a class C crime.

### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 24 Kidnapping and Criminal Restraint

#### Section 1. Kidnapping

- 1. A person is guilty of kidnapping if either:
  - A. he knowingly restrains another person with the intent to:
    - 1. hold him for ransom or reward; or
    - 2. use him as a shield or hostage; or
- 3. inflict bodily injury upon him or subject him to conduct defined as criminal in chapter 23; or
  - 4. terrorize him or a third person; or
- 5. facilitate the commission of another crime by any person or flight thereafter; or
- 6. interfere with the performance of any governmental or political function; or
  - B. he knowingly restrains another person:
- 1. under circumstances which, in fact, expose such other person to risk of serious bodily injury; or
- 2. by secreting and holding him in a place where he is not likely to be found.
- 2. "Restrain" means to restrict substantially the movements of another person without his consent or other lawful authority by:

- A. removing him from his residence, place of business, or from a school; or
- B. moving him a substantial distance from the vicinity where he is found; or
- C. confining him for a substantial period either in the place where the restriction commences or in a place to which he has been moved.
- [3. Kidnapping is a class A crime. It is, however, a defense which reduces the crime to a class B crime, if the defendant voluntarily released the victim alive and not suffering from serious bodily injury, in a safe place prior to trial.]

## Section 2. Criminal Restraint

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal restraint if:
  - A. he knowingly restrains another person; or
- B. being the parent of a child under the age of 16, he intentionally or knowingly takes, retains, or entices such child from the custody of his other parent, guardian, or other lawful custodian, and removes such child from the state, knowing that he has no legal right to do so; or
- C. knowing he has no legal right to do so, he intentionally or knowingly takes, retains, or entices:
  - 1. a child under the age of 14; or
  - 2. an incompetent person; or

- 3. a child who has attained his 14th birthday but has not attained his 16th birthday, provided that the actor is at least 18 years of age, from the custody of his parent, guardian, or other lawful custodian, with the intent to hold the person permanently or for a prolonged period.
  - 2. "Restrain" has the same meaning as in section 1.
  - [3. Criminal restraint is a class D crime.]

	•	

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 25 Theft

#### Section 1. Consolidation

Conduct denominated theft in this chapter constitutes a single crime embracing the separate crimes such as those here-tofore known as larceny, larceny by trick, larceny by bailee, embezzlement, false pretenses, extortion, blackmail, and receiving stolen property. An accusation of theft may be proved by evidence that it was committed in any manner that would be theft under this chapter, notwithstanding the specification of a different manner in the information or indictment, subject only to the power of the court to ensure a fair trial by granting a continuance or other appropriate relief if the conduct of the defense would be prejudiced by lack of fair notice or by surprise.

## Section 2. Definitions

As used in this chapter, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context:

- 1. "Property" means anything of value, including but not limited to:
- A. real estate and things growing thereon, affixed to or found thereon;

- B. tangible and intangible personal property;
- C. captured or domestic animals, birds or fishes; including credit cards.
- D. written instruments, or other writings representing or embodying rights concerning real or personal property, labor, services or otherwise containing anything of value to the owner;
- E. commodities of a public utility nature such as telecommunications, gas, electricity, steam or water; and
- F. trade secrets, meaning the whole or any portion of any scientific or technical information, design, process, procedure, formula or invention which the owner thereof intends to be available only to persons selected by him.
- 2. "Obtain" means, in relation to property, to bring about, in or out of this state, a transfer of possession or of some other legally recognized interest in property, whether to the obtainer or another; in relation to labor or services, to secure performance thereof; and in relation to a trade secret, to make any facsimile, replica, photograph or other reproduction.
  - 3. "Intent to deprive" means to have the conscious object:
- A. to withhold property permanently or for so extended a period or to use under such circumstances that a substantial portion of its economic value, or the use and benefit thereof, would be lost; or
- B. to restore the property only upon payment of a reward or other compensation; or

- C. to dispose of the property under circumstances that make it unlikely that the owner will recover it.
- 4. "Property of another" includes property in which any person other than the actor has an interest which the actor is not privileged to infringe, regardless of the fact that the actor also has an interest in the property and regardless of the fact that the other person might be precluded from civil recovery because the property was used in an unlawful transaction or was subject to forfeiture as contraband. Property in the possession of the actor shall not be deemed property of another who has only a security interest therein, even if legal title is in the creditor pursuant to a conditional sales contract or other security agreement.
  - 5. The meaning of "value" shall be determined according to the following:
  - A. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, value means the market value of the property or services at the time and place of the crime, or if such cannot be satisfactorily ascertained, the cost of replacement of the property or services within a reasonable time after the crime.
  - B. The value of a written instrument which does not have a readily ascertainable market value shall, in the case of an instrument such as a check, draft or promissory note be

deemed the amount due or collectible thereon, and shall, in the case of any other instrument which creates, releases, discharges or otherwise affects any valuable legal right, privilege or obligation be deemed the greatest amount of economic loss which the owner of the instrument might reasonably suffer by virtue of the loss of the instrument.

- C. The value of a trade secret which does not have a readily ascertainable market value shall be deemed any reasonable value representing the damage to the owner suffered by reason of losing an advantage over those who do not know of or use the trade secret.
- D. If the value of property or services cannot be ascertained beyond a reasonable doubt pursuant to the standards set forth above, the trier of fact may find the value to be not less than a certain amount, and if no such minimum value can be thus ascertained, the value shall be deemed to be an amount less than five hundred dollars.
- E. Amounts of value involved in thefts committed pursuant to one scheme or course of conduct, whether from the same person or several persons, may be aggregated in determining the class or grade of the crime.
- F. The defendant's culpability as to value is not an essential requisite of liability, unless otherwise expressly provided.

## Section 3. Theft by Unauthorized Taking or Transfer

- 1. A person is guilty of theft if he obtains or exercises unauthorized control over the property of another with intent to deprive him thereof.
- 2. As used in this section, "exercises unauthorized control" includes but is not necessarily limited to conduct heretofore defined or known as common law larceny by trespassory taking, larceny by conversion, larceny by bailee, and embezzlement.

## Section 4. Theft by Deception

- 1. A person is guilty of theft if he obtains or exercises control over property of another as a result of deception and with an intention to deprive him thereof.
- 2. For purposes of this section, deception occurs when a person intentionally:
- A. creates or reinforces an impression which is false and which that person does not believe to be true, including false impressions as to law, value, knowledge, opinion, intention or other state of mind. Provided, however, that an intention not to perform a promise, or knowledge that a promise will not be performed, shall not be inferred from the fact alone that the promise was not performed; or

- B. fails to correct an impression which is false which he previously had created or reinforced, and which he does not believe to be true, or which he knows to be influencing another whose property is involved and to whom he stands in a fiduciary or confidential relationship; or
- C. prevents another from acquiring information which is relevant to the disposition of the property involved; or
- D. fails to disclose a known lien, adverse claim or other legal impediment to the enjoyment of property which he transfers or encumbers in consideration for the property obtained, whether such impediment is or is not valid, or is or is not a matter of official record.
- 3. It is no defense to a prosecution under this section that the deception related to a matter that was of no pecuniary significance, or that the person deceived acted unreasonably in relying on the deception.

## Section 5. Theft by Extortion

- 1. A person is guilty of theft if he obtains or exercises control over the property of another as a result of extortion and with the intention to deprive him thereof.
- 2. As used in this section, extortion occurs when a person threatens to:

- A. cause physical harm in the future to the person threatened or to any other person or to property at any time; or
- B. do any other act which would not in itself substantially benefit him but which would harm substantially any other person with respect to that person's health, safety, business, calling, career, financial condition, reputation, or personal relationships.

# Section 6. Theft of Lost, Mislaid, or Mistakenly Delivered Property

A person is guilty of theft if he obtains or exercises control over the property of another which he knows to have been lost or mislaid, or to have been delivered under a mistake as to the identity of the recipient or as to the nature or amount of the property, and he both

- 1. fails to take reasonable measures to return the same to the owner, and
- 2. has the intention to deprive the owner of such property when he first obtains or exercises control over it, or at any time prior to taking reasonable measures to return the same to the owner.

## Section 7. Theft of Services

- 1. A person is guilty of theft if he obtains services which he knows are available only for compensation by deception, threat, force, or any other means designed to avoid the due payment therefor. As used in this section, "deception" has the same meaning as in section 4, and "threat" is deemed to occur under the circumstances described in subsection 2 of section 5.
- 2. A person is guilty of theft if, having control over the disposition of services of another, to which he knows he is not entitled, he diverts such services to his own benefit, or to the benefit of some other person who he knows is not entitled thereto.
- 3. As used in this section, "services" includes, but is not necessarily limited to, labor, pro essional service, public utility and transportation service, restaurant, hotel, motel, tourist cabin, rooming house and like accommodations, the supplying of equipment, tools, vehicles, or trailers for temporary use, telephone, telegraph or computor service, gas, electricity, water or steam, admission to entertainment, exhibitions, sporting events or other events for which a charge is made.
- 4. Where compensation for service is ordinarily paid immediately upon the rendering of such service, as in the case of hotels, restaurants and garages, refusal to pay or absconding without payment or offer to pay gives rise to a presumption that the service was obtained by deception.

## Section 8. Theft by Misapplication of Property

- 1. A person is guilty of theft if he obtains property from anyone or personal services from an employee upon agreement, or subject to a known legal obligation, to make a specified payment or other disposition to a third person or to a fund administered by himself, whether from that property or its proceeds or from his own property to be reserved in an equivalent or agreed amount, if he intentionally or recklessly fails to make the required payment or disposition and deals with the property obtained or withheld as his own.
- 2. Liability under section one is not affected by the fact that it may be impossible to identify particular property as belonging to the victim at the time of the failure to make the required payment or disposition.
- 3. An officer or employee of the government or of a financial institution is presumed:
- A. to know of any legal obligation relevant to his liability under this section, and
- B. to have dealt with the property as his own if he fails to pay or account upon lawful demand, or if an audit reveals a shortage or falsification if his accounts.

- 4. As used in this section,
- A. "financial institution" means a bank, insurance company, credit union, safety deposit company, savings and loan association, investment trust, or other organization held out to the public as a place of deposit of funds or medium of savings or collective investment; and
- B. "government" means the United States, any state or any county, municipality or other political unit within territory belonging to the United States, or any department, agency or subdivision of any of the foregoing, or any corporation or other association carrying out the functions of government or formed pursuant to interstate compact or international treaty.

# Section 9. Receiving Stolen Property

- 1. A person is guilty of theft, if he receives, retains, or disposes of the property of another knowing that it has been stolen, or believing that it has probably been stolen, with the intention to deprive the owner thereof.
- 2. As used in this section, "receives" means acquiring possession, control or title, or lending on the security of the property.

#### Section 10. Unauthorized Use of Property

- 1. A person is guilty of theft if
- A. knowing that he does not have the consent of the owner, he takes, operates, or exercises control over a vehicle, or, knowing that a vehicle has been so wrongfully obtained, he rides in such vehicle; or
- B. having custody of a vehicle pursuant to an agreement between himself and the owner thereof whereby the actor or another is to perform for compensation a specific service for the owner involving the maintenance, repair or use of such vehicle, he intentionally uses or operates the same, without the consent of the owner, for his own purposes in a manner constituting a gross deviation from the agreed purpose; or
- C. having custody of property pursuant to a rental or lease agreement with the owner thereof whereby such property is to be returned to the owner at a specified time and place, he intentionally fails to comply with the agreed terms concerning return of such property without the consent of the owner, for so lengthy a period beyond the specified time for return as to render his retention or possession or other failure to return a gross deviation from the agreement.

- 2. As used in this section, "vehicle" means any automobile, airplane, motorcycle, motorboat, snowmobile, any other motor-propelled means of transportation, or any boat or vessel propelled by sail, oar or paddle. "Property" has the meaning set forth in section tow, and includes vehicles.
- 3. It is a defense to a prosecution under this section that the actor reasonably believed that the owner would have consented to his conduct had he known of it.

# Section 11. Claim of Right; Presumptions

- 1. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under this chapter that the defendant acted in good faith under a claim of right to the property or services involved.
- 2. Upon proof that the defendant was in exclusive possession of property that had recently been taken under circumstances constituting a violation of this chapter or of chapter 29B shall give rise to a presumption that the defendant is guilty of the theft or robbery of the property, as the case may be.
- 3. Upon proof that the defendant intentionally concealed unpurchased property stored, offered or exposed for sale while he was still on the premises of the place where it was stored, offered or exposed, or in a parking lot or public or private way immediately adjacent thereto shall give rise to a presumption that the defendant obtained the property with the intent to deprive the owner thereof.

# Section 12. Classification of Theft Offenses

- 1. All violations of the provisions of this chapter shall be classified, for sentencing purposes, according to the provisions of this section. The facts set forth in this section upon which the classification depends shall be proved by the state beyond a reasonable doubt.
  - 2. Theft is a class B crime if
- A. the value of the property or services exceeds five thousand dollars; or
- B. the property stolen is a firearm or an explosive device; or
- C. the actor is armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the offense.
  - 3. Theft is a class C crime if
- A. the value of the property or services is more than five hundred dollars but not more than five thousand dollars; or
- B. the actor has been twice before convicted of the theft of property or services; or
- C. the theft is a violation under subsections 2 A or 2 B of section 5.
  - 4. Theft is a class D crime if
- A. it is a violation of section 10, regardless of the value involved; or
- B. the value of the property or services does not exceed five hundred dollars.

		·		
,	•			

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 26 Burglary and Criminal Trespass

#### Section 1. Burglary

- 1. A person is guilty of burglary if he enters or remains surreptitiously in a dwelling place, or other building, structure or place of business, knowing that he is not licensed or privileged to do so, with the intent to commit a crime therein.
- 2. As used in this section, "dwelling place" means any building, structure, vehicle, boat or other place adapted for overnight accommodation of persons, or sections of any place similarly adapted. It is immaterial whether a person is actually present.

#### [3. Burglary is classified as

- A. a class A crime if the defendant was armed with a firearm, or knew that an accomplice was so armed; or
- B. a class B crime if the defendant intentionally or recklessly inflicted or attempted to inflict bodily injury on anyone during the commission of the burglary, or an attempt to commit such burglary, or in immediate flight after such commission or attempt or if the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon other than a firearm, or knew that an accomplice was so armed; or if the violation was against a dwelling place.

- C. All other burglary is a class C crime.
- 4. A person may be convicted both of burglary and of the crime which he committed or attempted to commit after entering or remaining in the dwelling place, but sentencing for both crimes shall be governed by the provisions of chapter 31, section 5.

# Section 2. Criminal Trespass

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal trespass if, knowing that he is not licensed or privileged to do so,
  - A. he enters in any secured premises; or
- B. he remains in any place in defiance of a lawful order to leave which was personally communicated to him by the owner or other authorized person.
- 2. As used in this section, "secured premises" means any dwelling place, structure that is locked or barred, and a place from which persons may lawfully be excluded and which is posted in a manner prescribed by law or in a manner reasonably likely to come to the attention of intruders, or which is fenced or otherwise enclosed in a manner designed to exclude intruders.
- [3. Criminal trespass is a class C crime if the violation of this section was by entering a dwelling place, as defined in section 1. All other criminal trespass is a class D crime.]

# Section 3. Possession of Burglar's Tools

- 1. A person is guilty of possession of burglar's tools if he possesses or makes any tool, implement, instrument or other article which is adapted, designed or commonly used for advancing or facilitating crimes involving unlawful entry into property or crimes involving forcible breaking of safes or other containers or depositories of property, including but not limited to a master key designed to fit more than one lock, with intent to use such tool, implement, instrument or other article to commit any such criminal offense.
  - 2. Possession of burglar's tools is a class D crime.

## Section 4. Trespass by Motor Vehicle

- 1. A person is guilty of trespass by motor vehicle if, knowing that he has no right to do so, he intentionally or knowingly permits a motor vehicle belonging to him or subject to his control to enter or remain in or on
  - A. the residential property of another; or
- B. the non-residential property of another for a continuous period in excess of 24 hours.
- 2. Upon proof that the defendant was the registered owner of the vehicle, it shall be presumed that he was the person who permitted the vehicle to enter or remain on the property.
  - [3. Trespass by motor vehicle is a class D crime.]

	,			

July 15, 1974 27-1

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 27 Falsification in Official Matters

#### Section 1. Perjury

- 1. A person is guilty of perjury if he makes:
- A. in any official proceeding, a false statement under oath or affirmation, or swears or affirms the truth of a material statement previously made, and he does not believe the statement to be true; or
- B. inconsistent material statements, in the same official proceeding, under oath or affirmation, both within the period of limitations, one of which statements is false and not believed by him to be true.
- 2. Whether a statement is material is a question of law to be determined by the court. In a prosecution under subsection 1B, it need not be alleged or proved which of the statements is false but only that one or the other was false and not believed by the defendant to be true.
- 3. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under this section (1) that the defendant retracted the falsification in the course of the official proceeding in which it was made, and before it became manifest that the falsification was or would have been exposed; or (2) that proof of falsity rested solely upon contradiction by testimony of a single witness.

4. It is not a defense to prosecution under this section that the oath or affirmation was administered or taken in an irregular manner or that the declarant was not mentally competent to make the statement or was disqualified from doing so. A document purporting to be made upon oath or affirmation at any time when the actor presents it as being so verified shall be deemed to have been duly sworn or affirmed.

#### 5. As used in this section:

- A. "official proceeding" means any proceeding before a legislative, judicial, administrative or other governmental body or official authorized by law to take evidence under oath or affirmation including a notary or other person taking evidence in connection with any such proceeding:
- B. "material" means capable of affecting the course or outcome of the proceeding.
- [6. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]
  Section 2. False Swearing

#### 1. A person is guilty of false swearing if:

- A. he makes a false statement under oath or affirmation or swears or affirms the truth of such a statement previously made and he does not believe the statement to be true, provided
- (1) the falsification occurs in an official proceeding as defined in section 1, subsection 5A, or is made with the intention to mislead a public servant performing his official duties; or

- (2) the statement is one which is required by law to be sworn or affirmed before a notary or other person authorized to administer oaths; or
- B. he makes inconsistent statements under oath or affirmation, both within the period of limitations, one of which is false and not believed by him to be true. In a prosecution under this subsection, it need not be alleged or proved which of the statements is false, but only that one or the other was false and not believed by the defendant to be true.
- 2. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under this section (1) that, when made in an official proceeding, the defendant retracted the falsification in the course of such proceeding before it becomes manifest that the falsification was or would have been exposed; or (2) that proof of falsity rested solely upon contradiction by testimony of a single witness.
  - 3. It is not a defense to prosecution under this section that the oath or affirmation was administered or taken in an irregular manner or that the declarant was not mentally competent to make the statement or was disqualified from doing so. A document purporting to be made upon oaths or affirmation at any time when the actor presents it as being so verified shall be deemed to have been duly sworn or affirmed.
    - [4. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

## Section 3. Unsworn Falsification

- 1. A person is guilty of unsworn falsification if:
- A. he makes a written false statement which he does not believe to be true, on or pursuant to, a form conspicuously bearing notification authorized by statute or regulation to the effect that false statements made therein are punishable; or
- B. with the intent to deceive a public servant in the performance of his official duties, he
- (1) makes any written false statement which he does not believe to be true, provided, however, that this subsection does not apply in the case of a written false statement made to a law enforcement officer by a person then in official custody and suspected of having committed a crime; or
  - (2) knowingly creates, or attempts to create, a false impression in a written application for any pecuniary or other benefit by omitting information necessary to prevent statements therein from being misleading; or
  - (3) submits or invites reliance on any sample, specimen, map, boundary mark or other object which he knows to be false.
    - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

# Section 4. Tampering with Witness or Informant

- 1. A person is guilty of tampering with witness or informant if, believing that an official proceeding as defined in subsection 5A of section 1, or an official criminal investigation; is pending or will be instituted:
- A. he attempts to induce or otherwise cause a witness or informant
  - (i) to testify or inform falsely; or
- (ii) to withhold, beyond the scope of any privilege which the witness or informant may have, any testimony, information or evidence; or
- (iii) to absent himself from any proceeding or investigation to which he has been summoned by legal process; or
- B. he solicits, accepts or agrees to accept any benefit in consideration of his doing any of the things specified in subsection 1A (i); or
- C. he solicits, accepts or agrees to accept any benefit in consideration of his doing any of the things specified in subsections IA(ii) or IA(iii).
- [2. Violation of subsections IA(i) or IB is a class C crime. Violation of subsections IA(ii), IA(iii), or IC is a class D crime.]

#### Section 5. Falsifying Physical Evidence

- 1. A person is guilty of falsifying physical evidence if, believing that an official proceeding as defined in subsection 5A of section 1, or an official criminal investigation, is pending or will be instituted, he:
- A. alters, destroys, conceals or removes any thing relevant to such proceeding or investigation with intent to impair its verity, authenticity or availability in such proceeding or investigation; or
- B. presents or uses any thing which he knows to be false with intent to deceive a public servant who is or may be engaged in such proceeding or investigation.
  - [2. Falsifying physical evidence is a class D crime.]

## Section 6. Tampering with Public Records or Information

- 1. A person is guilty of tampering with public records or information if he:
- A. knowingly makes a false entry in, or false alteration of any record, document or thing belonging to, or received or kept by the government, or required by law to be kept by others for the information of the government; or
- B. presents or uses any record, document or thing knowing it to be false, and with intent that it be taken as a genuine part of information or records referred to in subsection 1A; or
- C. intentionally destroys, conceals, removes or otherwise impairs the verity or availability of any such record, document or thing, knowing that he lacks authority to do so.
- [2. Tampering with Public Records or Information is a class D crime.]

# Section 7. Impersonating a Public Servant

- 1. A person is guilty of impersonating a public servant if he falsely pretends to be a public servant and engages in any conduct in that capacity with the intent to deceive anyone.
- 2. It is no defense to a prosecution under this section that the office the person pretended to hold did not in fact exist.
  - [3. Impersonating a public servant is a class D crime.]

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 28 Offenses Against Public Order

#### Section 1. Disorderly Conduct

A person is guilty of disorderly conduct if:

- 1. in a public place, he intentionally or recklessly causes annoyance to others by intentionally:
  - A. making loud and unreasonable noises; or
- B. activating a device, or exposing a substance, which releases noxious and offensive odors; or
- 2. in a public or private place, he knowingly accosts, insults, taunts or challenges any person with offensive, derisive or annoying words, or by gestures or other physical conduct, which would in fact have a direct tendency to cause a violent response by an ordinary person in the situation of the person so accosted, insulted, taunted or challenged;
- 3. in a private place, he makes loud and unreasonable noise which can be heard as unreasonable noise in a public place or in another private place, [after having been ordered by a law enforcement officer to cease such noise.]
- 4. A person violating this section in the presence of a law enforcement officer may be arrested without a warrant.

- 5. As used in this section:
- A. "public place" means a place to which the public at large or a substantial group has access, including but not limited to:
  - (i) public ways as defined in section 5;
  - (ii) schools, government-owned custodial facilities, and
- (iii) the lobbies, hallways, lavatories, toilets and basement portions of apartment houses, hotels, public buildings and transportation terminals;
- B. "private place" means any place that is not a public place.
  - [6. Disorderly conduct is a class D crime.]

## Section 2. Failure to Disperse

- 1. When six or more persons are participating in a course of disorderly conduct likely to cause substantial harm or serious inconvenience, annoyance, or alarm, a law enforcement officer may order the participants and others in the immediate vicinity to disperse.
- 2. A person is guilty of failure to disperse if he knowingly fails to comply with an order made pursuant to subsection 1.
- [3. Failure to disperse is a class C crime if the person is a participant in the course of disorderly conduct; otherwise it is a class D crime.]

#### Section 3. Riot

- 1. A person is guilty of riot if, together with five or more other persons, he engages in disorderly conduct:
- A. with intent imminently to commit or facilitate the commission of a crime involving physical injury or property damage against persons who are not participants; or
- B. when he or any other participant to his knowledge uses or intends to use a firearm or other dangerous weapon in the course of the disorderly conduct.
  - 2. [Riot is a class B crime.]

## Section 4. Unlawful Assembly

A person is guilty of unlawful assembly if:

- 1. he assembles with five or more other persons with intent to engage in conduct constituting a riot; or being present at an assembly that either has or develops a purpose to engage in conduct constituting a riot, he remains there with intent to advance that purpose; and
- 2. he knowingly fails to comply with an order to disperse given by a law enforcement officer to the assembly.
  - [3. Unlawful assembly is a class D crime.]

## Section 5. Obstructing Public Ways

- 1. A person is guilty of obstructing public ways if he unreasonably obstructs the free passage of foot or vehicular traffic on any public way, and refuses to cease or remove the obstruction upon a lawful order to do so given him by a law enforcement officer.
- 2. As used in this section, "public way" means any public highway or sidewalk, private way laid out under authority of statute, way dedicated to public use, way upon which the public has a right of access or has access as invitees or licensees, or way under the control of park commissioners or a body having like powers.
  - 3. Obstructing Public Ways is a class D crime.

#### Section 6. Harassment

- 1. A person is guilty of harassment if by means of telephone he:
- A. makes any comment, request, suggestion or proposal which is, in fact, offensively coarse or obscene, without consent of the person called; or
- B. makes a telephone call, whether or not conversation ensues, without disclosing his identity and with intent to annoy, abuse, threaten, or harass any person at the called number; or

July 15, 1974 28-5

- C. makes or causes the telephone of another repeatedly or continuously to ring, with intent to harass any person at the called number; or
- D. makes repeated telephone calls, during which conversation ensues, solely to harass any person at the called number; or
- E. knowingly permits any telephone under his control to be used for any purpose prohibited by this section.
- 2. The crime defined in this section may be prosecuted and punished in the county in which the defendant was located when he used the telephone, or in the county in which the telephone called or made to ring by the defendant was located.
  - [3. Harassment is a class D crime.]

#### Section 7. Desecration and Defacement

- 1. A person is guilty of desecration and defacement if he intentionally desecrates any public monument or structure, any place of worship or burial, or any private structure not owned by him.
- 2. As used in this section, "desecrate" means marring, defacing, damaging or otherwise physically mistreating, in a way that will outrage the sensibilities of an ordinary person likely to observe or discover the actions.
  - [3. Desecration is a class D crime.]

#### Section 8. Abuse of Corpse

- 1. A person is guilty of abuse of corpse if he intentionally and unlawfully dis-inters, digs up, removes, conceals, mutilates or destroys a human corpse, or any part or the ashes thereof.
- 2. It is a defense to prosecution under this section that the actor was a physician, scientist or student who had in his possession, or used human bodies or parts thereof lawfully obtained, for anatomical, physiological or other scientific investigation or instruction.
  - [3. Abuse of corpse is a class D crime.]

#### Section 9. False Public Alarm or Report

- 1. A person is guilty of false public alarm or report if
- A. he knowingly gives or causes to be given false information to any law enforcement officer with the intent of inducing such officer to believe that a crime has been committed or that another has committed a crime, knowing the information to be false; or
- B. he knowingly gives false information to any law enforcement officer or member of a fire fighting agency, including a volunteer fire department, concerning a fire, explosive or other similar substance which is capable of endangering the safety of persons, knowing that such information is false, or knowing that he has no information relating to the fire, explosive or other similar substance.
  - [2. False public alarm is a class D crime.]

#### Section 10. Cruelty to Animals

- 1. A person is guilty of cruelty to animals if, intentionally or recklessly:
- A. he kills or injures any animal belonging to another person without legal privilege or the consent of the owner; or
- B. he overworks, tortures, abandons, gives poison to, cruelly beats, or mutilates any animal, or exposes a poison with the intent that it be taken by an animal; or
- C. he deprives any animal which he owns or possesses of necessary sustanence, shelter or humanely clean conditions; or
- D. he owns, possesses, keeps, or trains any animal with the intent that it shall be engaged in an exhibition of fighting, or if he has a pecuniary interest in or acts as a judge at any such exhibition of fighting animals.
- 2. As used in subsection 1B, "mutilates" includes, but is not limited to, cutting the bone, muscles, or tendons of the tail of a horse for the purpose of docking or setting up the tail, cropping or cutting off the ear of a dog, in whole or in part. As used in subsection 1, "animal" means birds, fowl, fish and any other living sentient creature that is not a human being.
- 3. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under this section that

- A. the defendant's conduct conformed to accepted veterinary practice or was a part of scientific research governed by accepted standards; or
- B. the defendant's conduct was designed to control or eliminate rodents, ants or other common pests on his own property.

## Section 11 Violation of Privacy

- 1. A person is guilty of violation of privacy if, except in the execution of a public duty or as authorized by law, he intentionally:
- A. commits a civil trespass on property with the intent to overhear or observe any person in a private place; or
- B. installs or uses in a private place without the consent of the person or persons entitled to privacy therein, any device for observing, photographing, recording, amplifying, or broadcasting sounds or events in that place; or
- C. installs or uses outside a private place without the consent of the person or persons entitled to privacy therein, any device for hearing, recording, amplifying, or broadcasting sounds originating in that place which would not ordinarily be audible or comprehensible outside that place.
- 2. As used in this section "private place" means a place where one may reasonably expect to be safe from surveillance but does not include a place to which the public or a substantial group has access.
  - 3. [Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

#### Section 12. Failure to Report Treatment of a Gunshot Wound

- 1. A person is guilty of failure to report treatment of a gunshot wound if, being a licensed physician, he treats a human being
  for a wound apparently caused by the discharge of a firearm and
  knowingly fails to report the same to a law enforcement officer within
  24 hours.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

## Section 13. Maintaining an Unprotected Well

- 1. A person is guilty of maintaining an unprotected well if, being the owner or occupier of land on which there is a well, he knowingly fails to enclose the well with a substantial fence or other substantial enclosing barrier or to protect it by a substantial covering which is securely fastened.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

# Section 14. Abandoning an Airtight Container

- 1. A person is guilty of abandoning an airtight container if
- A. he abandons or discards in any public place, or in a private place that is accessible to minors, any chest, closet, piece of furniture, refrigerator, icebox, or other article having a compartment capacity of 1 1/2 cubic feet or more and having a door or lid ... which when closed cannot be opened easily from the inside; or

HAND IN THE SHOP IN START OF

The state of the formula described in the second of the second o

(a) The second of the secon

the server of a few of the warder and a gradual area of the

(a) The formula of the question of the second of the se

#### State of Maine

July 22, 1974

28-10

- B. being the owner, lessee, manager, or other person in control of a public place or of a place that is accessible to minors on which there has been abandoned or discarded a container described in subsection IA, he knowingly or recklessly fails to remove such container from that place, or to remove the door, lid or other cover of the container.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

¥

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 29 Offenses Against the Family

#### Section 1. Bigamy

- 1. A person is guilty of bigamy if, having a spouse, he intentionally marries or purports to marry, knowing that he is legally ineligible to do so.
  - [2. Bigamy is a class D crime.]

#### Section 2. Nonsupport of Dependents

- 1. A person is guilty of nonsupport of dependents if he knowingly fails to provide support which he is able to provide and which
  he knows he is legally obliged to provide to a spouse, child or
  other person declared by law to be his dependent.
- 2. As used in this section, "support" includes but is not limited to food, shelter, clothing, and other necessary care.
  - [3. Nonsupport of dependents is a class D crime.]

# Section 3. Abandonment of Child

- 1. A person is guilty of abandonment of a child if, being a parent, guardian, or other person legally charged with the long term care and custody of a child under the age of 14, or a person to whom such care and custody has been expressly delegated, he leaves the child in any place with the intent to abandon him.
  - [2. Abandonment of a child is a class D crime.]

## Section 4. Endangering the Welfare of a Child

- 1. A person is guilty of endangering the welfare of a child if, except as provided in subsection 2, he knowingly permits a child under the age of 16 to enter or remain in a house of prostitution; or he knowingly sells, furnishes, gives away, or offers to sell, furnish or give away to such a child, any intoxicating liquor, cigarettes, tobacco, air rifles, firearms, or ammunition; or he otherwise knowingly endangers the child's health, safety or mental welfare by violating a duty of care or protection.
  - 2. The prohibitions in subsection 1 shall not apply to:
- A. the parent of a child under the age of 16 who furnishes such child a reasonable amount of intoxicating liquor in the parent's home and presence; or
- B. any person acting pursuant to authority expressly or impliedly granted in RSA Title 12.
  - [3. Endangering the welfare of a child is a class D crime.]

State of Maine

July 22, 1974

29A-1

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 29A Bribery and Corrupt Practices

#### Section 1 Scope of Chapter

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prohibit the giving or receiving of campaign contributions made for the purpose of defraying the costs of a political campaign. No person shall be convicted of an offense solely on the evidence that a campaign contribution was made, and that an appointment or nomination was subsequently made by the person to whose campaign or political party the contribution was made.

# Section 2. Bribery in Official and Political Matters

- 1. A person is guilty of bribery in official and political matters if:
- A. he promises, offers, or gives any pecuniary benefit to another with the intention of influencing the other's action, decision opinion, recommendation, vote, nomination, or other exercise of discretion as a public servant, party official, or voter; or
- B. being a public servant, party official, candidate for electoral office, or voter, he solicits, accepts or agrees to accept any pecuniary benefit from another knowing or believing the other's purpose to be as described in subsection IA, or fails to report to a law enforcement officer that he has been offered or promised a pecuniary benefit in violation of subsection IA.

State of Maine

July 22, 1974

29A-2

- 2. As used in this section and other sections of this chapter, the following definitions apply:
- A. "Public servant" means an officer or employee of the state or any political subdivision thereof, including judges, legislators, consultants, jurors, and persons otherwise performing a governmental function. A person is considered a public servant upon his election, appointment or other designation as such, although he may not yet officially occupy that position. A person is a candidate for electoral office upon his public announcement of his candidacy.
- B. "Party official" means any person holding any post in a political party whether by election, appointment or otherwise.
- C. "Pecuniary benefit" means any advantage in the form of money, property, commercial interest or anything else, the primary significance of which is economic gain; it does not include economic advantage applicable to the public generally, such as tax reduction or increased prosperity generally.
- [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

  Section 3. Improper Influence
  - 1. A person is guilty of improper influence if he
- A. threatens any harm to a public servant, party official or voter with the purpose of influencing his action, decision, opinion, recommendation, nomination, vote or other exercise of discretion;

  -1190-

- B. privately addresses to any public servant who has or will have an official discretion in a judicial or administrative proceeding any representation, argument or other communication with the intention of influencing that discretion on the basis of considerations other than those authorized by law; or
- C. being a public servant or party official, fails to report to a law enforcement officer conduct designed to influence him in violation of subsection 1A or 1B.
- 2. "Harm" means any disadvantage or injury, pecuniary or other-wise, including disadvantage or injury to any other person or entity in whose welfare the public servant, party official, or voter is interested.
- [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

  Section 4. Improper Compensation for Past Action
- 1. A person is guilty of improper compensation for past action if:
- A. being a public servant, he solicits, accepts or agrees to accept any pecuniary benefit in return for having given a decision, opinion, recommendation, nomination, vote, otherwise exercised his discretion, or for having violated his duty; or
- B. he promises, offers or gives any pecuniary benefit, acceptance of which would be a violation of subsection 1A.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

#### Section 5. Improper Gifts to Public Servants

- 1. A person is guilty of improper compensation for services if
- A. being a public servant he solicits, accepts or agrees to accept any pecuniary benefit from a person who is or is likely to become subject to or interested in any matter or action pending before or contemplated by himself or the governmental body with which he is affiliated; or
- B. he knowingly gives, offers, or promises any pecuniary benefit prohibited by subsection 1A.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

#### Section 6. Improper Compensation for Services

- 1. A person is guilty of improper compensation for services if:
- A. being a public servant, he solicits, accepts or agrees to accept any pecuniary benefit in return for advice or other assistance in preparing or promoting a bill, contract, claim or other transaction or proposal as to which he knows that he has or is likely to have an official discretion to exercise; or
- B. he gives, offers or promises any pecuniary benefit, knowing that it is prohibited by subsection 1A.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

## Section 7. Purchase of Public Office

- 1. A person is guilty of purchase of public office if
- A. he solicits, accepts or agrees to accept, for himself, another person, or a political party, money or any other pecuniary benefit as compensation for his endorsement, nomination, appointment, approval or disapproval of any person for a position as a public servant or for the advancement of any public servant; or
- B. he knowingly gives, offers or promises any pecuniary benefit prohibited by subsection 1.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

# Section 8. Official Oppression

- 1. A person is guilty of official oppression if, being a public servant and acting with the intention to benefit himself or another or to harm another, he knowingly commits an unauthorized act which purports to be an act of his office, or knowingly refrains from performing a duty imposed on him by law or clearly inherent in the nature of his office.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

#### State of Maine

July 22, 1974

29A-6

## Section 9. Misuse of Information

- 1. A person is guilty of misuse of information if, being a public servant and knowing that official action is contemplated, or acting in reliance on information which he has acquired by virtue of his office or from another public servant, he
- A. acquires or divests himself of a pecuniary interest in any property, transaction or enterprise which may be affected by such official action or information; or
- B. speculates or wagers on the basis of such official action or information; or
- C. knowingly aids another to do any of the things described in subsections 1A and 1B.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

## TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

#### Chapter 29B Robbery

## Section 1. Aggravated Robbery

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated robbery if, in the course of committing robbery, as defined in section 2,
- A. he intentionally inflicts or attempts to inflict bodily injury or uses physical force on another; or
  - B. he is armed with a dangerous weapon.
  - [2. Aggravated robbery is a class A crime.]

## Section 2. Robbery

- 1. A person is guilty of robbery if he commits theft and at the time of his actions:
- A. he threatens to use force against any person present with the intent:
- (i) to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking of the property, or to the retention of the property immediately after the taking; or
- (ii) to compel the person in control of the property to give it up or to engage in other conduct which aids in the taking or carrying away of the property; or
  - B. he recklessly inflicts bodily injury on another.
  - [2. Robbery is a class B crime.]

July 15, 1974

29C - 1

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 29C Forgery and Related Offenses

## Section 1. Definitions

As used in sections two and three of this chapter:

- 1. a person "falsely alters" a written instrument when, without the authority of anyone entitled to grant it, he changes a written instrument, whether it be in complete or incomplete form, by means of erasure, obliteration, deletion, insertion of new matter, transposition of matter, or in any other manner, so that such instrument in its thus altered form appears or purports to be in all respects an authentic creation of, or fully authorized by, its ostensible author, maker or drawer;
- 2. a person "falsely completes" a written instrument when, by adding, inserting or changing matter, he transforms an incomplete written instrument into a complete one, without the authority of anyone entitled to grant it, so that such complete instrument appears or purports to be in all respects an authentic creation of, or fully authorized by, its ostensible author, maker or drawer;

- 3. a person "falsely makes" a written instrument when he makes or draws a complete written instrument in its entirety, or an incomplete written instrument, which purports to be an authentic creation of its ostensible author, maker or drawer, but which is not such either because the ostensible maker or drawer is fictitious or because, if real, he did not authorize the making or drawing thereof;
- 4. "written instrument" includes any token, coin, stamp, credit card seal, badge, trademark, other evidence or symbol of value, right, privilege or identification, and any paper, document, or other written instrument containing written or printed matter or its equivalent;
- 5. "complete written instrument" means a written instrument which purports to be a genuine written instrument fully drawn with respect to every essential feature thereof; and
- 6. "incomplete written instrument" means a written instrument which contains some matter by way of content or authentication but which requires additional matter in order to render it a complete written instrument.

## Section 2. Aggravated Forgery

- 1. A person is guilty of Aggravated Forgery if, with intent to defraud or deceive another person or government, he falsely makes, completes or alters a written instrument, or knowingly utters or possesses such an instrument, and the instrument is:
- A. part of an issue of money, stamps, securities or other valuable instruments issued by a government or governmental instrumentality; or
- B. part of an issue of stocks, bonds or other instruments representing interests in or claims against an organization or its property; or
- C. a will, codicil or other instrument providing for the disposition of property after death; or
- D. a public record or an instrument filed or required or authorized by law to be filed in or with a public office or public employee; or
  - E. a check whose face value exceeds five thousand dollars.
  - [2. Aggravated Forgery is a class B crime.]

## Section 3. Forgery

- 1. A person is guilty of forgery if, with the intent to defraud or deceive another person or government, he:
- A. falsely makes, completes or alters a written instrument, or knowingly utters or possesses such an instrument; or B. causes another, by deception, to sign or execute a written instrument, or utters such an instrument.
  - [2. Forgery is a class C crime.]

## Section 4. Possession of Forgery Devices

- 1. A person is guilty of possession of forgery devices if
- A. he makes or possesses with knowledge of its character, any plate, die, or other device, apparatus, equipment or article specifically designed or adapted for use in committing aggravated forgery or forgery; or
- B. he makes or possesses any device, apparatus, equipment, or article capable of or adaptable to use in committing an aggravated forgery or forgery, with the intent to use it himself, or to aid or permit another to use it for purposes of committing aggravated forgery or forgery.
  - [2. Possession of forgery devices is a class D crime.]

## Section 5. Criminal Simulation

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal simulation if
- A. with intent to defraud, he makes or alters any property so that it appears to have an age, rarity, quality, composition, source, or authorship which it does not in fact possess; or with knowledge of its true character and with intent to defraud, he transfers or possesses property so simulated; or
  - B. in return for a pecuniary benefit;
- (i) he authors, prepares, writes, sells, transfers or possesses with intent to sell or transfer, an essay, term paper or other manuscript knowing that it will be, or believing that it probably will be, submitted by another person in satisfaction of a course, credit, or degree requirement at a university or other degree, diploma or certificate granting educational institution; or
- (ii) he takes an examination for another person in satisfaction of a course, credit, or degree requirement at a university or other degree, diploma, or certificate granting educational institution.
- C. he knowingly makes, gives or exhibits a false pedigree in writing of any animal; or

- D. with intent to defraud and to prevent identification, he alters, removes or obscures the manufacturer's serial number or any other distinguishing identification number, mark, or symbol upon any automobile, motorboat, aircraft or any other vehicle or upon any machine, firearm, or other object.
  - [2. Criminal simulation is a class D crime.]

## Section 6. Suppressing Recordable Instrument

- 1. A person is guilty of suppressing a recordable instrument if, with intent to defraud anyone, he falsifies, destroys, removes or conceals any will, deed, mortgage, security instrument, or other writing for which the law provides public recording, whether or not it is in fact recorded.
  - [2. Suppressing a recordable instrument is a class D crime.]

# Section 7. Falsifying Private Records

- 1. A person is guilty of falsifying private records if, with intent to defraud any person, he:
- A. makes a false entry in the records of an organization, or
- B. alters, erases, obliterates, deletes, removes or destroys a true entry in the records of an organization; or

- C. omits to make a true entry in the records of an organization in violation of a duty to do so which he knows to be imposed on him by statute; or
- D. prevents the making of a true entry or causes the omission thereof in the records of an organization.
  - [2. Falsifying private records is a class D crime.]

## Section 8 Negotiating a Worthless Instrument

- 1. A person is guilty of negotiating a worthless instrument if he intentionally issues or negotiates a negotiable instrument knowing that it will not be honored by the maker or drawee.
- 2. It shall be presumed that the person issuing or negotiating the instrument knew that it would not be honored upon proof that:
- A. the drawer had no account with the drawee at the time the instrument was negotiated; or
- B. payment was refused by the drawee for lack of funds upon presentation within a reasonable time after negotiation or issue, as determined according to Title 11, section 3-503, and the drawer failed to make good within 5 days after actual receipt of a notice of dishonor, as defined in Title 11, section 3-508.

- 3. As used in this section, the following definitions apply:
- A. "Issue" has the meaning provided in Title 11, section 3-102(1)(a);
- B. "Negotiable instrument" has the meaning provided in Title 11, section 3-104;
- C. "Negotiation" and its varients have the meaning provided in Title 11, section 3-202.
  - [4. Negotiating a worthless instrument is a class D crime.]

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 29D Offenses Against Public Administration

## Section 1. Obstructing Government Administration

- 1. A person is guilty of obstructing government administration if he uses force, violence, intimidation or engages in any criminal act with the intent to interfere with a public servant performing or purporting to perform an official function.
  - 2. This section shall not apply to
    - A. refusal by a person to submit to an arrest;
- ${\tt B.}$  escape by a person from official custody, as defined in section  ${\tt 5}$  .
  - [3. Obstructing government administration is a class D crime.]

## Section 2. Assault on an Officer

- 1. A person is guilty of assault on an officer, if he has been taken into custody by a law enforcement officer and he commits an assault on such officer.
- 2. As used in this section, "assault" means the crime defined in section\_ of chapter\_\_. For purposes of subsection 1, a law enforcement officer takes another person into custody when he exercises physical control over that person's freedom of movement, or is in a position imminently to exercise such control and declares his intention to do so.

July 15, 1974 29D-2

- 3. It is no defense to prosecution under this section that the officer was acting unlawfully in taking the actor into custody, provided he was acting under color of his official authority. It is a defense that the conduct constituting a violation of subsection 1 was engaged in as a response to the use of force by the officer that was clearly and substantially in excess of that declared justifiable under section \_ of chapter \_\_.
  - [4. Assault on an officer is a class C crime.]

## Section 3. Hindering Apprehension or Prosecution

- 1. A person is guilty of hindering apprehension or prosecution if, with the intent to hinder, prevent, or delay the discovery, apprehension, prosecution, conviction or punishment of another person for the commission of a crime, he:
  - A. harbors or conceals the other person; or
- B. provides or aids in providing a dangerous weapon, transportation, disguise or other means of avoiding discovery or apprehension; or
- C. conceals, alters or destroys any physical evidence that might aid in the discovery, apprehension or conviction of such person; or

- D. warns such person of impending discovery or apprehension, except that this subsection does not apply to a warning given in connection with an effort to bring another into compliance with the law; or
- E. obstructs by force, intimidation or deception anyone from performing an act which might aid in the discovery, apprehension, prosecution or conviction of such person; or
- F. aids such person to safeguard the proceeds of or to profit from such crime.
- [2. Hindering apprehension is a class B crime if the defendant knew that the charge made or liable to be made against the other person is aggravated murder, murder, or a class A crime. Otherwise, it is one grade less than the charge made or in fact liable to be made against the other person; provided that if such charge is a class D crime, hindering apprehension is a class D crime.]

## Section 4. Compounding

- 1. A person is guilty of compounding if he intentionally solicits, accepts or agrees to accept, any pecuniary benefit as consideration for refraining from initiating or participating as informant or witness in a criminal prosecution.
  - [2. Compounding is a class D crime.]

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 29D Offenses Against Public Administration

## Section 5 Escape

- 1. A person is guilty of escape if, without official permission, he intentionally leaves official custody, or intentionally fails to return to official custody following temporary leave granted for a specific purpose or a limited period.
- 2. In the case of escape from arrest, it is a defense that the arresting officer acted unlawfully in making the arrest. In all other cases, it is no defense that grounds existed for release from custody that could have been raised in a legal proceeding.
- 3. As used in this section, "official custody" means arrest, custody in, or on the way to or from a jail, police station, house of correction, or any institution or facility under the control of the Bureau of Corrections, or under contract with the Bureau for the housing of persons sentenced to imprisonment, the custody of any official of the Bureau, or any custody pursuant to court order. It does not include custody of person under 18 years of age unless such person has been administratively transferred to custody in the men's or women's correctional center, or the custody is as a result of a finding of probable cause made under the authority of section 2611(3) of Title 15 or is in regard to

offenses over which juvenile courts have no jurisdiction, as provided in section 2552 of Title 15. A person on a parole or probation status is not, for that reason alone, in "official custody" for purposes of this section.

[4. Escape is a class B crime if it is committed by force against a person, threat of such force, or while the defendant is armed with a dangerous weapon. Otherwise it is a class C crime.]

## Section 6. Aiding Escape

- 1. A person is guilty of aiding escape if, with the intent to aid any person to violate section 5,
- A. he conveys or attempts to convey to such person, any contraband; or
- B. he furnishes plans, information, or other assistance to such person; or
- C. being a person whose official duties include maintaining persons in official custody, as defined in subsection 3 of section 5, he permits such violation, or an attempt at such violation.

29D-6

- 2. As used in this section, and in section 7, "contraband" means a dangerous weapon, any tool or other thing that may be used to facilitate a violation of section 5, or any other thing which a person confined in official custody is prohibited by statute or regulation from making or possessing.
- [3. Aiding escape is a class C crime, unless the contraband involved in a violation of subsection 1A includes a dangerous weapon, in which case it is a class B crime.]
- 4. A person may not be indicted or charged in an information with both a violation of this section and as an accomplice to a violation of section 5.

# Section 7 Trafficking in Prison Contraband

- 1. A person is guilty of trafficking in prison contraband if:
- A. he intentionally conveys contraband to any person in official custody; or
- B. being a person in official custody, he intentionally makes, obtains or possesses contraband.
- 2. As used in this section "official custody" has the same meaning as in section 5, provided that solely for purposes of subsection 1A of this section, it does include the custody of all persons under the age of 18.
  - [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

July 15, 1974

29E - 1

## TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 29E Arson and Other Property Destruction

## Section 1. Aggravated Arson

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated arson if he intentionally starts, causes, or maintains a fire or explosion that damages any structure which is the property of himself or of another, in conscious disregard of a substantial risk that at the time of such conduct a person may be in such structure.
- 2. It is no defense to a prosecution under this section that no person was present in the structure.
- 3. In a prosecution under this section, the requirements of specificity in the charge and proof at the trial otherwise required by law do not include a requirement to allege or prove the ownership of the property.
- 4. As used in this section "structure" includes but is not limited to a building, tent, lean-to, and a vessel or vehicle adapted for overnight accommodation.
- [5. Aggravated arson is a class A crime if the fire or explosion causes death or serious bodily injury to any person actually present in the structure. Otherwise it is a class B crime.]

## Section 2. Arson

- 1. A person is guilty of arson if he starts, causes, or maintains a fire or explosion
- A. on the property of another with the intent to damage or destroy such property; or
  - B. on his own property or the property of another:
- (i) with the intent to enable any person to collect insurance proceeds for the loss caused by the fire or explosion; or
- (ii) in conscious disregard of a substantial risk that his conduct will endanger any person or damage or destroy the property of another.
- 2. In a prosecution under subsection 1B, the requirements of specificity in the charge and proof at the trial otherwise required by law do not include a requirement to allege or prove the ownership of the property. In a prosecution under subsection 1A, it is a defense that the actor believed he had the permission of the property owner to engage in the conduct alleged.
  - [3. Arson is a class B crime.]

## Section 3. Causing a Catastrophe

- 1. A person is guilty of causing a catastrophe is he reck-lessly causes a catastrophe by explosion, fire, flood, avalanche, collapse of a structure, release of poison, radioactive material, bacteria, virus, or other such force or substance that is dangerous to human life and difficult to confine.
- 2. As used in this section, "catastrophe" means death or serious bodily injury to ten or more people or substantial damage to five or more structures, as defined in section 1.
  - [3. Causing a catastrophe is a class A crime.]

## Section 4. Failure to Control or Report a Dangerous Fire

- 1. A person is guilty of failure to control or report a dangerous fire if
- A. he starts, causes, or maintains a fire or explosion, and knowing that its spread would endanger human life or the property of another, he fails to take reasonable measures to put out or control the fire or to give a prompt fire alarm: or
- B. knowing that a fire is endangering a substantial amount of property of another, as to which he has an official, contractual, or other legal duty, he fails to take reasonable measures to put out or control the fire or to give prompt fire alarm; or

- C. knowing that a fire is endangering human life, he fails to take reasonable measures to save life by notifying the persons endangered or by taking reasonable measures to put out or control the fire or by giving a prompt fire alarm.
- [2. Failure to control or report a dangerous fire is a class D crime.]

## Section 5. Aggravated Criminal Mischief

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated criminal mischief if he intentionally or knowingly
- A. damages or destroys property of another in an amount exceeding one thousand dollars in value, having no reasonable ground to believe that he has a right to do so; or
- B. damages or destroys property in an amount exceeding one thousand dollars in value, to enable any person to collect insurance proceeds for the loss caused; or

- C. damages, destroys or tampers with the property of a law enforcement agency, fire department, or supplier of gas, electric, steam, water, transportation, sanitation or communications services to the public, having no reasonable ground to believe that he has a right do do so, and thereby causes a substantial interruption or impairment of service rendered to the public; or
- D. damages, destroys, or tampers with property of another and thereby recklessly endangers human life.
  - [2. Aggravated criminal mischief is a class C crime.]

## Section 6. Criminal Mischief

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal mischief if, intentionally or knowingly, he
- A. damages or destroys the property of another, having no reasonable ground to believe that he has a right to do so; or knowingly damages or destroys property with the intent to enable any person to collect insurance proceeds for the loss caused; or
- B. damages, destroys, or tampers with property of a law enforcement agency, fire department, or supplier of gas, e electric, steam, water, transportation, sanitation, or communication services to the public, having no reasonable ground to believe that he has a right to do so, and by such conduct recklessly creates a risk of interruption or impairment of services rendered to the public.
  - 2. Criminal Mischief is a class D crime.

July 15, 1974

29F-1

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 29F Prostitution and Public Indecency

#### Section 1 Definitions

As used in this chapter,

- 1. "Prostitution" means engaging in, or agreeing to engage in, or offering to engage in sexual intercourse or a sexual act, as defined in chapter 23, section 1, in return for a pecuniary benefit to be received by the person engaging in prostitution or a third person.
  - 2. "Promotes prostitution" means
- A. causing or aiding another to commit or engage in prostitution, other than as a patron; or
- B. in a public place, soliciting patrons for prostitution; or
  - C. providing persons for purposes of prostitution; or
- D. leasing or otherwise permitting a place controlled by the defendant, alone or in association with others, to be regularly used for prostitution; or
- E. owning, controlling, managing, supervising, or otherwise operating, in association with others, a house of prostitution or a prostitution business; or
- F. transporting a person into or within the state with the intent that such other person engage in prostitution; or

. G. accepting or receiving, or agreeing to accept or receive, a pecuniary benefit pursuant to an agreement or understanding with any other person whereby he participates or is to participate in the proceeds of prostitution.

## Section 2. Aggravated Promotion of Prostitution

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated promotion of prostitution if he knowingly
- A. promotes prostitution by compelling a person to enter into, engage in, or remain in prostitution; or
- B. promotes prostitution of a person less than 18 years old.
- 2. As used in this section "compelling" includes but is not limited to
- A. the use of a drug or intoxicating substance to render a person incapable of controlling his conduct or appreciating its nature; and
- B. withholding or threatening to withhold a narcotic drug or alcoholic liquor from a drug or alcohol dependent person.

  A "drug or alcohol dependent person" is one who is using narcotic drugs or alcoholic liquor and who is in a state of psychic or physical dependence or both, arising from the use of the drug or alcohol on a continuing basis.
  - [3. Aggravated promotion of prostitution is a class C crime.]

# Section 3. Promotion of Prostitution

- 1. A person is guilty of promotion of prostitution if he knowingly promotes prostitution.
  - [2. Promoting prostitution is a class D crime.]

## Section 4. Public Indecency

- 1. A person is guilty of public indecency if:
  - A. in a public place
- (i) he engages in sexual intercourse or a sexual act, as defined in chapter 23, section 1; or
- (ii) he knowingly exposes his genitals to a person under the age of 12, or under circumstances which, in fact, are likely to cause affront or alarm; or
- B. in a private place, he exposes his genitals with the intention that he be seen from a public place or from another private place.
- 2. For purposes of this section "public place" includes, but is not limited to, motor vehicles which are on a public way.
  - [3. Public indecency is a class D crime.]

		•

State of Maine '
July 15, 1974 29G-1

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 29G Fraud

## Section 1 Deceptive Business Practices

- 1. A person is guilty of deceptive business practices if, in the course of engaging in a business, occupation, or profession, he intentionally
- A. uses or possesses with the intent to use, a false weight or measure, or any other device which is adjusted or calibrated to falsely determine or measure any quality or quantity; or
- B. sells, offers or exposes for sale, or delivers less than the represented quantity of any commodity or service; or
- C. takes more than the represented quantity of any commodity or service when as buyer he furnished the weight or measure; or
- D. sells, offers, or exposes for sale any commodity which is adulterated or mislabelled; or
- E. sells, offers or exposes for sale a motor vehicle on which the speedometer or odometer has in fact been turned back, adjusted or replaced so as to understate its actual mileage, without disclosing the understatement; or
- F. sells, offers or exposes for sale a motor vehicle on which the manufacturer's serial number has in fact been altered, removed or obscured; or

- G. makes or causes to be made a false or misleading statement in any advertisement addressed to the public or to a substantial number of persons, in connection with the promotion of his business, occupation or profession or to increase the consumption of specified property or service; or
- H. offers property or service, in any manner including advertising or other means of communication, as part of a scheme or plan with the intent not to sell or provide the advertised property or services (i) at all, or (ii) at the price or of the quality offered, or (iii) in a quantity sufficient to meet the reasonably expected public demand unless the advertisement or communication states the approximate quantity available; or
- I. conducts, sponsors, organizes or promotes a publicly exhibited sports contest with the knowledge that he or another person has tampered with any person, animal or thing that is part of the contest, with the intent to prevent the contest from being conducted in accordance with the rules and usages purporting to govern it, or with the knowledge that any sports official or sports participant has accepted or agreed to accept any benefit from another person upon an agreement or understanding that he will thereby be influenced not to give his best efforts or that he will perform his duties improperly.

2. It is a defense to a prosecution under subsection 1G and subsection 1H that a television or radio broadcasting station, or a publisher or printer of a newspaper, magazine or other form of printed material, which broadcasts, publishes or prints a false, misleading advertisement did so without knowledge of the advertiser's intent.

#### 3. As used in this section:

- A. "adulterated" means varying from the standard of composition or quality prescribed for the substance by statute or by lawfully promulgated administrative regulation, or if none, as set by established commercial usage;
- B. "mislabeled" means having a label varying from the standard of truth and disclosure in labeling prescribed by statute or lawfully promulgated administrative regulation, or if none, as set by established commercial usage.
  - [4. Deceptive business practices is a class D crime.]

## Section 2. Defrauding a Creditor

- 1. A person is guilty of defrauding a creditor if
- A. he destroys, removes, conceals, encumbers, transfers or otherwise deals with property subject to a security interest, as defined in section 1-201(37) of Title 11, with the intent to hinder enforcement of that interest; or
- B. knowing that proceedings have been or are about to be instituted for the appointment of an administrator, he
- (1) destroys, removes, conceals, encumbers, transfers or otherwise deals with any property with a purpose to defeat or obstruct the claim of any creditor; or
- (2) presents in writing to any creditor or to an assignee for the benefit of creditors, any false statement relating to the debtor's estate, knowing that a material part of such statement is false.
- 2. As used in this section "assignee for benefit of creditors" means a receiver, trustee in bankruptcy, or any other person entitled to administer property for the benefit of creditors.
  - [3. Defrauding a creditor is a class D crime.]

## Section 3. Misuse of Entrusted Property

1. A person is guilty of misuse of entrusted property if he deals with property that has been entrusted to him as a fiduciary, or property of the government or of a financial institution, in a manner which he knows is a violation of his duty and which involves a substantial risk of loss to the owner or to a person for whose benefit the property was entrusted.

#### 2. As used in this section

- A. "fiduciary" includes any person carrying on fiduciary functions on behalf of an organization which is a fiduciary;
- B. "financial institution" and "government" have the meanings provided in subsection 4 of section 8 of chapter 25.
  - 3. Misuse of entrusted property is a class D crime.

#### Section 4. Private Bribery

- 1. A person is guilty of private bribery if
  - A. he offers, gives or agrees to give any benefit to:
- (i) an employee or agent with the intention to influence his conduct adversely to the interest of the employer or principal of the agent or employee; or
- (ii) a hiring agent or an official or employee in charge of employment upon agreement or understanding that a particular person, including the actor, shall be hired, retained in employment or discharged or suspended from employment; or
- (iii) a fiduciary with the intent to influence him to act contrary to his fiduciary duty; or
- (iv) a sports participant with the intent to influence him not to give his best efforts in a sports contest; or
- (v) a sports official with the intent to influence him to perform his duties improperly; or
- (vi) a person in a position of trust and confidence in his relationship to a third person, with the intention that the trust or confidence will be used to influence the third person to become a customer of the actor, or as compensation for the past use of such influence; or
- B. he knowingly solicits, accepts or agrees to accept any henefit, the giving of which would be criminal under subsection IA.
  - [2. Private bribery is a class D crime.]

## Section 5 Misuse of Credit Identification

- 1. A person is guilty of misuse of credit identification if, in order to obtain property or services, he intentionally or knowingly:
- A. presents or uses a credit card which is stolen, forged or cancelled; or
- B. presents a credit or billing number which he is not authorized to use.
- 2. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under this section that the defendant believed in good faith that he had a right to present or use the card or number.
  - [ 3. Misuse of credit identification is a class D crime.]

## Section 6. Use of Slugs

- 1. A person is guilty of use of slugs if:
- A. with intent to defraud, he inserts or deposits a slug in a coin box, turnstile, vending machine or other mechanical or electronic device or receptacle; or
- B. he makes, possesses or disposes of a slug with intent to enable a person to insert or deposit it in a coin box, turnstile, vending machine or other mechanical or electronic device or receptacle.
- 2. As used in this section, "slug" means an object or article which, by virtue of its size, shape or other quality, is capable of being inserted or deposited as an improper substitute for a genuine coin, bill, pass, key or token in a coin box, turnstile, vending machine or other mechanical or electronic device or receptacle which is designed automatically to offer, provide, assist in providing or permit the acquisition of some property or services in return for the insertion or deposit of a genuine coin, bill, pass, key or token.
  - [3. Use of slugs is a class D crime.]

#### TITLE D2 SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSES

## Chapter 29H Unlawful Gambling

## Section 1 Inapplicability of Chapter

Any person licensed by the Chief of the State Police as provided in chapter [14] shall be exampt from the application of the provisions of this chapter insofar as his conduct is within the scope of such license.

## Section 2. Definitions

As used in this chapter, the following definitions apply:

1. "Advance gambling activity." A person "advances gambling activity" if, acting other than as a player or a member of the player's family residing with a player in cases in which the gambling takes place in their residence, he engages in conduct that materially aids any form of gambling activity. Conduct of this nature includes, but is not limited to, bookmaking, conduct directed toward the creation or establishment of the particular game, contest, scheme, device, or activity involved, toward the acquisition or maintenance of premises, paraphernalia, equipment, or apparatus therefor, toward the solicitation or inducement of persons to participate therein, toward the actual conduct of the playing phases thereof, toward the arrangement of any of its financial or recording phases, or toward any other phase of its

operations. A person also advances gambling activity if, having substantial proprietary control or other authoritative control over premises being used with his knowledge for purposes of gambling activity, he permits that activity to occur or continue, or makes no effort to prevent its occurence or continuation.

- 2. "Bookmaking" means advancing gambling activity by unlawfully accepting bets from members of the public as a business, rather than in a casual or personal fashion, upon the outcomes of future contingent events.
- 3. "Contest of chance" means any contest, game, gaming scheme, or gaming device in which the outcome depends in a material degree upon an element of chance, notwithstanding that skill of the contestants may also be a factor therein.
- 4. "Gambling." A person engages in gambling if he stakes or risks something of value upon the outcome of a contest of chance or a future contingent event not under his control or influence, upon an agreement or understanding that he or someone else will receive something of value in the event of a certain outcome. Gambling does not include bona fide business transactions valid under the law of contracts, including but not limited to contracts for the purchase or sale at a future date of securities or commodities, and agreements to compensate for loss caused by the happening of chance, including but not limited to contracts of indemnity or guaranty and life, health, or accident insurance.

- 5. "Gambling device" means any device, machine, paraphernalie, or equipment that is used or usable in the playing phases of any gambling activity, whether that activity consists of gambling between persons or gambling by a person involving the playing of a machine. However, lottery tickets and other items used in the playing phases of lottery schemes are not gambling devices within this definition.
  - 6. "Lottery" means an unlawful gambling scheme in which:
- (a) The players pay or agree to pay something of value for chances, represented and differentiated by numbers or by combinations of numbers or by some other medium, one or more of which chances are to be designated the winning ones; and
- (b) The winning chances are to be determined by a drawing or by some other method based on an element of chance; and
- (c) The holders of the winning chances are to receive something of value.
- 7. "Mutuel" means a form of lottery in which the winning chances or plays are not determined upon the basis of a drawing or other act on the part of persons conducting or connected with the scheme, but upon the basis of the outcome or outcomes of a future contingent event or events otherwise unrelated to the particular scheme.

- "Player" means a person who 8. engages in social gambling solely as a contestant or bettor on equal terms with the other participants therein without receiving or becoming entitled to receive something of value or any profit therefrom other than his personal gambling winnings. "Social gambling" is gambling, or a contest of chance, in which the only participants are players and from which no person or organization receives or becomes entitled to receive something of value or any profit whatsoever, directly or indirectly, other than as a player, from any source, fee, remuneration connected with said gambling, or such activity as arrangement or facilitation of the game, or permitting the use of premises, or selling or supplying for profit refreshments, food, drink service, or entertainment to participants, players, or spectators. A person who engages in "bookmaking" a defined in subsection 2 is not a "player."
- 9. "Profit from gambling activity." A person "profits from gambling activity" if, other than as a player, he accepts or receives money or other property pursuant to an agreement or understanding with any person whereby he participates or is to participate in the proceeds of gambling activity.

- 10. "Something of value" means any money or property, any token, object, or article exchangeable for money or property, or any form of credit or promise directly or indirectly contemplating transfer of money or property, or of any interest therein, or involving extension of a service, entertainment, or a privilege of playing at a game or scheme without charge.
  - 11. "Unlawful" means not expressly authorized by statute.

# Section 3. Aggravated Unlawful Gambling

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated unlawful gambling if he intentionally or knowingly advances or profits from unlawful gambling activity by:
- A. engaging in bookmaking to the extent that he receives or accepts in any twenty-four hour period more than five bets totaling more than \$500; or
- B. receiving in connection with a lottery, or mutuel scheme or enterprise, money or written records from a person other than a player whose chances or plays are represented by such money or records; or
- C. receiving in connection with a lottery, mutuel, or other gambling scheme or enterprise, more than \$500 in any twenty-four hour period play in the scheme or enterprise.
  - 2. Aggravated gambling is a class B crime.

# Section 4. Unlawful Gambling

- 1. A person is guilty of unlawful gambling if he intentionally or knowingly advances or profits from gambling activity.
  - 2. Unlawful gambling is a class D crime.

# Section 5. Possession of Gambling Records

- 1. A person is guilty of possession of gambling records if, other than as a player, he knowingly possesses any writing, paper, instrument or article, which is being used or is intended by him to be used in the operation of unlawful gambling activity, as defined in this chapter.
  - [2. Possession of gambling records is a class D crime.]

# Section 6. Possession of Gambling Devices

- 1. A person is guilty of possession of gambling devices if he manufactures, sells, transports, places, possesses, or conducts or negotiates any transaction affecting or designed to affect ownership, custody, or use of any gambling device, knowing it is to be used in the advancement of unlawful gambling activity, as defined in this chapter.
  - 2. Possession of gambling devices is a class D crime.

# Section 7. Out of State Gambling

In any prosecution under this chapter it is not a defense that the gambling activity, including the drawing of a lottery, which is involved in the illegal conduct takes place outside this State and is not in violation of the laws of the jurisdiction in which the lottery or other activity takes place.

		•	

# Chapter 29I Criminal Use of Explosives and Related Crimes Section 1. Criminal Use of Explosives

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal use of explosives if he intentionally or knowingly:
- A. without right, throws or places explosives into, against or upon any real or personal property; or
- B. makes, imports, transports, stores, sells or offers to sell any explosives without a proper permit under the regulations, or in violation of the regulations; or
- C. sells or supplies explosives to, or buys, procures or receives explosives for, a person prohibited by the regulations from receiving explosives; or
- D. possesses explosives with the intent to do any of the acts prohibited in this section.
  - 2. As used in this section:
- A. "Explosives" means gunpowders, powders used for blasting all forms of high explosives, blasting materials, fuses (other than electric circuit breakers), detonators, and other detonating agents, smokeless powders, and any chemical compounds, mechanical mixtures or other ingredients in such proportions, quantities or packing that ignition by fire, by friction, by concussion, by percussion or by detonation of the compound or material or any part thereof may cause an explosion; and

July 22, 1974

291-2

B. "Regulations" means the regulations of the [state agency concerned with licensing sale and use of explosives] issued by lawful authority pursuant to RSA--.

# Section 2. Criminal Use of Disabling Chemicals

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal use of disabling chemicals if he intentionally sprays or otherwise uses upon any other person chemical mace or any similar substance composed of a mixture of gas and chemicals which has or is designed to have a disabling effect upon human beings.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

# Section 3. Criminal Use of Noxious Substance

- 1. A person is guilty of criminal use of noxious substance if he intentionally deposits on the premises or in the vehicle or vessel of another, without his consent, any stink bomb, or other device or substance which releases or is designed to release noxious and offensive odors.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

Marity,

# Chapter 29J Weapons

# Section 1. Possession of Machine Gun

- 1. A person is guilty of possession of a machine gun if, without authority to do so, he knowingly possesses a machine gun.
- 2. As used in this chapter, "machine gun" means a weapon of any description, by whatever name known, loaded or unloaded, which is capable of discharging a number of projectiles in rapid succession by one manual or mechanical action on the trigger or firing mechanism.
  - [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

# Section 2. Right to Possess, Carry or Transport Machine Gun

Any law enforcement officer of the State of Maine, any law enforcement officer of another state or a territory of the United States, members of the Armed Forces, Maine National Guard and Maine State Guard may possess a machine gun if the possession or carrying of such weapon is in the discharge of his official duties and has been authorized by his appointing authority.

Machine guns manufactured, acquired, transferred or possessed in accordance with The National Firearms Act, as amended, shall be exempt from this chapter.

# Section 3. Confiscation and Seizure of Machine Gun

Any machine gun possessed in violation of section 1 is declared to be contraband and is subject to forfeiture to the State. Any law enforcement officer shall have the power to seize the same with due process.

When a machine gun is seized as provided, the officer seizing the same shall immediately file with the judge before whom such warrant is returnable, a libel against the machine gun, setting forth the seizure and describing the machine gun and the place of seizure in a sufficient manner to reasonably identify it, that it was possesse in violation of law and pray for a decree of forfeiture thereof. judge shall fix a time for the hearing of such libel and shall issue his monition and notice of same to all persons interested, citing them to appear at the time and place appointed to show cause why such machine gun should not be declared forfeited, by causing true and attested copies of said libel and monition to be posted in two public and conspicuous places in the town and place where such machine gun was seized, 10 days at least before said libel is returnable. addition, a true and attested copy of 'the libel and monition shall be served upon the person from whom said machine gun was seized and upon the owner thereof, if their whereabouts can be readily ascertained 10 days at least before said libel is returnable. In lieu of forfeiture proceedings, title to such seized machine gun may be transferred

July 22, 1974

29J-3

in writing to the State of Maine by the owner thereof. If title to and ownership in the machine gun is transferred to the State, a receipt for the machine gun shall be given to the former owner by the law enforcement officer who seized the machine gun.

# Section 4. Forfeiture of Machine Gun

If no claimant for a machine gun seized under the authority of section 3 appears, the judge shall, on proof of notice, declare the same to be forfeited to the State. If any person appears and claims such machine gun, as having a right to the possession thereof at the time when the same was seized, he shall file with the judge a claim in writing stating specifically the right so claimed, the foundation thereof, the item so claimed, any exemption claimed, the time and place of the seizure and the name of the law enforcement officer who seized the machine gun, and in it declare that it was not possessed in violation of this chapter, and state his business and place of residence and sign and make oath to the same before said judge. If any person so makes claim, he shall be admitted as a party to the process, and the libel, and may hear any pertinent evidence offered by the libelant or claimant. If the judge is, upon hearing, satisfied that said machine gun was not possessed in violation of this chapter, and that claimant is entitled to the custody thereof, he shall give an order in writing, directed to the law enforcement officer having

July 22, 1974

29J-4

seized the same, commanding him to deliver to the claimant the machine gun to which he is so found to be entitled, within 48 hours after demand. If the judge finds the claimant not entitled to possess the machine gun, he shall render judgment against him for the libelant for costs, to be taxed as in civil cases before such judge, and issue execution thereon, and shall declare such machine gun forfeited to the State. The claimants may appeal and shall recognize with sureties as on appeals in civil actions from a judge. The judge may order that the machine gun remain in the custody of the seizing law enforcement officer, pending the disposition of the appeal. All machine guns declared forfeited to the State, or title to which have been transferred to the State in lieu of forfeiture proceedings shall be turned over to the Chief of the Maine State Police. If said machine gun is found to be of a historic, artistic, scientific or educational value, the State Police may retain the machine gun for an indefinite period of time. Any other machine gun declared forfeited and in possession of the State Police shall be destroyed by a means most convenient to the Chief of the State Police.

29J-5

# Section 5. Trafficking in Dangerous Knives

- 1. A person is guilty of trafficking in dangerous knives if he knowingly manufactures or causes to be manufactured, or knowingly possesses, displays, offers, sells, lends, gives away or purchases any knife which has a blade which opens automatically by hand pressure applied to a button, spring or other device in the handle of the knife, or any knife having a blade which opens or falls or is ejected into position by the force of gravity, or by an outward, downward or centrifugal thrust or movement.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

# Chapter 29K Obscenity

# Section 1. Making or Circulating Obscene Books and Pictures

- 1. A person is guilty of making or circulating obscene books and pictures if he knowingly or recklessly sells, rents, displays for sale, loans, gives or distributes to any person or offers for sale to such a person or has in his possession, actual or constructive any pamphlet, magazine, comic book, picture or picture book which contains illustrations of, or the literature of which contains, sadism, masochism, sexual perversion, bestiality or lust, or obscenity, indecency or immorality.
- 2. This section shall not apply to any medical examiner, distric attorney, state attorney, police officer, sheriff or physician while in the performance of his official or professional duties.
  - [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

# Section 2. Unlawful Notices for Cure of Venereal Diseases

1. A person is guilty of unlawful notices for cure of venereal diseases if he publishes or causes to be published, delivers or distributes, or causes to be delivered or distributed, in any manner whatsoever, or posts or displays, or permits to be posted, displayed or to remain on any buildings, windows or outhouses, or premises or other surface owned or controlled by him in this State, or has displayed in or on any window or place where the same could be read

July 22, 1974

29K-2

by passers-by or the public, any advertisement, label, statement, print or writing which refers to any person or persons from whom, or to any means by which, or to any office or place at which may be obtained any treatment or cure for syphilis, gonorrhea, chancroid, lost manhood, sexual weakness, lost vitality, impotency, seminal emissions, fleet, varicocele or self abuse, whether described by such names, words, terms or phrases, or by any other names, words, terms or phrases calculated or intended to convey to the reader the idea that any of said diseases, infirmities, disabilities, conditions or habits are meant or referred to, or which refers to any medicine, article, device or preparation that may be used for the treatment, cure or prevention of any of the diseases, infirmities, disabilities, conditions or habits mentioned in this section.

- 2. This section shall not apply to publications, advertisements or notices of the United States Government, this State or of any municipality in this State, or of any public official, department or agency of this State charged with the enforcement of its health laws.
  - [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

29K-2

# Section 3. Circulation Among Minors of Criminal News and Obscene Pictures

- 1. A person is guilty of circulation among minors of criminal news and obscene pictures if he circulates, posts or causes to be circulated or posted in any conspicuous or public place any magazine, picture, handbill or poster containing obscene, indecent or immoral literature or representations; or in any manner hires, uses or employs any minor to sell or give away, or in any manner to distributor having the care, custody or control of any minor, permits such minor to sell or give away, or in any manner to distribute any book, magazine, pamphlet or newspaper as described in this section.
- 2. The District Court and the Superior Court shall have, by complaint, original and concurrent jurisdiction of the crimes mentioned in this section.
  - [3. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

# Section 4. Use of Phonographs for Profane or Obscene Language

- 1. A person is guilty of use of phonographs for profane or obscene language if, in connection with any show or entertainment, whether public or private, either as owner, manager or director or in any other capacity, he uses or causes or permits to be used, a phonograph or other contrivance, instrument or device which utters or gives forth any profane, obscene or impure language.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]

July 22, 1974

29K-3

# Section 5. Presenting Obscene or Impure Shows

- 1. A person is guilty of presenting an obscene or impure show if, as owner, manager, director, agent or in any other capacity, he prepares, advertises, gives, presents or participates in any obscene, indecent, immoral or impure show or entertainment, or any show or entertainment which manifestly tends to corrupt the morals of youth.
  - [2. Sentencing classification to be inserted.]